
COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

ELECTRONIC PUBLIC INFORMATION PACKAGE FOR  
COUNCIL MEETING  

FRIDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2020 – 1 P.M. 
 



RHPA

Duties and Obiects of Colleges

Dufy of College
z.l It is the duty of the College to work in consultation with the Minister to ensure, as a

matter of public urterest, that the people of Ontario have access to adequate numbers of

qualified, iLitl"¿ and competent regulated health professionals' 2008' c' l8' s- l'

Objects of College
3. ( I ) The College has the following objects'

l. To regulate the practice of the profession and to govern the members in accordance

with the healttr profession Act, this Code and the Regulated Health Professions

Act, I991 and the regulations and by-,laws'

2. To.develop, establish and maintain standards of qualification lor persons to be issued

certificates o f registration.

3. To develop, establish and maintain programs and standards of practice to assure the

qualify of the practice of the profession'

4. 'I-o develop, establish and maintain standards of knowledge and skill and programs to

promoteãntinuing evaluation, competence and improvement among the members'

4.1 To develop, in collaboration and consultation with other Colleges, standards of

knowledgå, skill and judgment relating to the performance olcontrolled acts

"o-,ooriumong 
healih professions to enhance interprolessional collaboration, while

respecting the rinique character of individual health professions and their members'

5. To develop, establish and maintain standards of professional ethics for the members'

6- To develop, establish and rnaintain programs to assist individuals to exercise their

rights under this Code and the Regulated Heatth Professions Act, ] 991 '

T.Toadminister the health profession Act, this code and the Regulated Health

professions Act, lggl as it relates to the profession and to perform the other duties

and exercise the other po\Ãiers that are imposed or conlened on the College'

g- To promote and enhance relations befween the College and its members, other

health profession colleges, key stakeholders, and the pubtic.

9. To promote inter-professional collaboration with other health profession colleges'

10. To develop, establish, and maintain standards and programs to promote the ability

of members to respond to changes in practice environments, advances in

technolory and other emerging issues-

I l. Any other objects retating to human health care that the Council considers

desirable. t9é1, c. 18, SJrte¿. 2, s.3 (l); 2007, c- 10, Sched' M, s' l8; 2009, c'26'

s. 2a (l l)-

Dufy
(2) In carrying out its objects, the College has a duty to serye and protect the public

interest. I991, c. 18, Sched. 2, s- 3 (2)'

.1



Version date: October 12, 2017 

 

 

COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO 
MISSION, VISION, VALUES AND STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES  

 
MISSION 
 
The College of Chiropractors of Ontario regulates the profession in the public 
interest to assure ethical and competent chiropractic care. 
 
VISION 
 
Committed to Regulatory Excellence in the Public Interest in a Diverse 
Environment. 
 
VALUES 
 

• Integrity  
• Respect 
• Collaborative 
• Innovative 
• Transparent 
• Responsive 

 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 
 

 
1. Build public trust and confidence and promote understanding of the role of 

CCO amongst all stakeholders. 
 

2. Ensure the practice of members is safe, ethical, and patient-centered. 
 

3. Ensure standards and core competencies promote excellence of care while 
responding to emerging developments. 

 
4. Optimize the use of technology to facilitate regulatory functions and 

communications. 
 

5. Continue to meet CCO’s statutory mandate and resource priorities in a 
fiscally responsible manner. 
 

                                      Developed at the strategic planning session: September 2017  
 



CCO Gooe or CoruDUcr FoR CunneruT AND

Fonuen E¡-ecreD AND Puellc MeMeeRs oF
Cou n¡c r L AN D N o tt -G o u N c I L Colt¡ lvl ¡rrer M eM B E RS @Ð
Executive Committee
Approved by Gouncil: September 28,2012
Amended: February 23,2016, April 19, 20'16, September 15,2016
Re-Affirmed bv Council: November 29, 2018

Current and former elected and public members of Council and non-Council committee

members must, at all times, maintain high standards of integrity, honesty and loyalty
when discharging their College duties. They must act in the best interest of the College.

They shall:

l. be familiar and comply with the provisions of the Regulated Health Professions

Act, 1991 (RHPA),its regulations and the Health Professions Procedural Code,

the Chiropractic Act 1991, its regulations, and the by-laws and policies of the

College;

2. diligently take part in committee work and actively serve on committees as

elected and appointed by the Council;

3. regularly attend meetings on time and participate constructively in discussions;

4. offer opinions and express views on matters before the College, Council and

committee, when appropriate;

5. participate in all deliberations and communications in a respectful, courteous and

professional manner, recognizing the diverse background, skills and experience of
members on Council and committees;

6. uphold the decisions made by Council and committees, regardless of the level of
prior individual disagreement;

7. place the interests of the College, Council and committee above self-interests;

8. avoid and, where that is not possible, declare any appearance of or actual conflicts

of interestst;

9. refrain from including or referencing Council or committee positions held at the

College in any personal or business promotional materials, advertisements and

business cards;2

I There is a general assumption of real or perceived conflict unless confirmation of no conflict by the

Executive Committee and/or Council, which will be addressed promptly.
2 This section does not preclude the use ofprofessional biographies for professional involvement.



CCO Code of Conduct
November 29,2018

10. preserve conf,rdentiality of all information before Council or committee unless
disclosure has been authorized by Council or otherwise exempted under s. 36(1)
ofthe RHPA;

11. refrain from communicating to members, including other Council or committee
members, on statutory committees regarding registration, complaints, reports,
investigations, disciplinary or fitness to practise proceedings which coulã be
perceived as an attempt to influence a statutory committee or a breach of
confidentiality, unless he or she is a membcr of the panel or, where there is no
panel, of the statutory committee dealing with the matter;

12. rcfrain from communicating to members and stakeholdet' on behalf of CCO
including on social media, unless authorized by Councila;

13. respect the boundaries of staff whose role is not to report to or work for individual
Council or committee members; and

14. be respectful of others and not engage in behaviour that might reasonably be
perceived as verbal, physical or sexual abuse or harassment.

Potential Breaches of the Gode of Conduct

15. An elected or appointed member of Council or non-Council committee member
who becomes aware of any potential breach of this code of conduct should
immediately advise the President and Registrar, or if the potential breach involves
the President, advise the Vice President and Registrar; and,

16. Potential breaches will be addressed first through informal discussion with the
Council member(s) or non-Council committee member(s), and subsequently by
written communication expressing concerns and potential conseq.,"n"ir.

I, , Council member or non-Council committee member of the
College of Chiropractors of Ontario undertake to comply with the CCO Code of Conduct
for Current and Former Elected and Public Members of Council and Non-Council
Comrnittee Members, both during and follcrving rny term on CCo Council or a
committee

Signature Witness:

Date

3 Stakeholders include professional associations, societies, and other organizations related to the regulation,
education and practice of chiropractic.
a This does not preclude Council members from communicating about CCO, provided they are not
communicating on behalf of CCO.

2



Rules of Order of the Council of the  
College of Chiropractors of Ontario 

Approved by Council: September 20, 2014 
Amended: June 17, 2020 

 
1. In this Schedule, "Council Member" means a Member of the Council of the CCO. 
 
2. Each agenda topic may be introduced briefly by the person or committee 

representative raising it. Council Members may ask questions for clarification. 
However, a Council Member shall make a motion and another Council Member 
shall second the motion before it can be debated. 

 
3. When any Council Member wishes to speak, they shall so indicate by raising 

their hand. When speaking the Council Member shall address the presiding 
officer and confine themselves to the matter under discussion. 

 
4. Staff persons and consultants with expertise in a matter may be permitted by the 

presiding officer to provide information or answer specific questions about the 
matter. 

 
5. Observers at a Council meeting shall not speak to a matter that is under debate.  
 
6. A Council Member shall not speak again on the debate of a matter until every 

other Council Member of Council who wishes to speak to it has been given an 
opportunity to do so. An exception is that the person introducing the matter or a 
staff person or consultant may answer questions about the matter. Council 
Members shall not speak to a matter more than twice without the permission of 
the presiding officer. 

 
7. No Council Member may speak longer than five minutes upon any motion except 

with the permission of the Council. 
 
8. When a motion is under debate, no other motion can be made except to amend 

it, to postpone it, to put the motion to a vote, to adjourn the debate or the Council 
meeting or to refer the motion to a committee. 

 
9. A motion to amend the motion then under debate shall be disposed of first. Only 

one motion to amend the motion under debate can be made at a time. 
 
10. When it appears to the presiding officer that the debate on a matter has 

concluded, that Council has passed a motion to vote on the motion or that the 
time allocated to the debate of the matter has concluded, the presiding officer 
shall put the motion to a vote.  

 
11. When a matter is being voted on, no Council Member shall enter or leave the 

Council room, and no further debate is permitted. 
 



Rules of Order of Council 

2 
 

12. No Council Member shall be present in the room, participate in a debate or vote 
upon any motion in which they have a conflict of interest, and the vote of any 
Council Member so interested shall be disallowed. 

 
13. Any motion decided by the Council shall not be re-introduced during the same 

session except by a two-thirds vote of the Council then present. 
 
14. Whenever the presiding officer is of the opinion that a motion offered to the 

Council is contrary to these rules or the by-laws, the presiding officer shall rule 
the motion out of order and give reasons for doing so. 

 
15. The presiding officer shall preserve order and decorum, and shall decide 

questions of order, subject to an appeal to the Council without debate.   
 
16. The above rules may be relaxed by the presiding officer if it appears that greater 

informality is beneficial in the particular circumstances unless the Council 
requires strict adherence. 

 
17. Council Members shall not discuss a matter with observers while it is being 

debated. 
 
18. Council Members shall turn off their electronic devices during Council meetings 

and, except during a break in the meeting, shall not use their electronic devices. 
Computers shall only be used during Council meetings to review materials 
related to the matter under debate (e.g., electronic copies of background 
documents) and to make personal notes of the debate. The presiding officer may 
make reasonable exceptions (e.g., if a Council Member is awaiting an important 
message on an urgent matter). 

 
19. Council Members shall be silent while others are speaking. 
 
20. In all cases not provided for in these rules or the by-laws, the current edition of 

Robert's Rules of Order shall be followed so far as they may be applicable and 
consistent with these rules. 

 
 



List of Commonly Used Acronyms at CCO
as at September 2017

Acronym Full Name

ADR Alternative Dispute Resolution
AFC Alliance For Chiropractic (formerly CAC)
BCCC British Columbia College of Chiropractors
BDC Board of Directors of Chiropractic
cAc Chiropractic Awareness Council
ccA Canadian Chiropractic Association
CCEB Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board
ccEc Council on Chiropractic Education (Canada)

SCERP Specified Continuing Education or Remediation Proptram

ccct Canadian Chiropractic Guideline lnitiative
cco Colleee of Chironractors of Ontario
CCPA Canadian Chiropractic Protective Association
CCRF Canadian Chiropractic Research Foundation
Chiropractic Act Chiropractic Act. 1991

cMcc Canadian Memorial Chiropractic College
cNo College of Nurses of Ontario
Code Health Professions Procedurql Code, Schedule 2 to the RHPA

coNo College of Naturopaths of Ontario
CPGs Clinical Practice Guidelines
CPSO College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario

cRc Chiropractic Review Committee
DAC Designated Assessment Centre

FCC Federation of Canadian Chiropractic
FCCOS(C) Fellow of the Colleee of Chiropractic Orthopaedic Specialists (Canada)

FCCR(C) Fellow of the Chiropractic College of Radiologists (Canada)

FCCPOR(C) Fellow of the Canadian Chiropractic College of Physical and Occupational
Rehabilitation (Canada)

FCCS(C) Fellow of the College of Chiropractic Sciences (Canada)

FRCCSS(C) Fellow of the Royal College of Chiropractic Sports Sciences (Canada)

FCLB Federation of Chiropractic Licensing Boards

FHRCO Federation of Health Regulatory Colleges of Ontario

HARP Healins Arts Radiation Protection Act
HIA Health Insurance Act
HPARB Health Professions Appeal and Review Board

HPRAC Health Professions Regulatory Advisory Council

tcRc Inquiries, Complaints & Reports Committee
LSUP Law Society of Upper Canada

MESPO Model for the Evaluation of Scopes of Practice in Ontario

MOHLTC Ministrv of Health and Long-Term Care

MTCU Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities

NBCE National Board of Chiropractic Examiners

ocA Ontario Chiropractic Association

ODP Office Development Proi ect

oFc Offrce of the Fairness Commissioner
OHIP Ontario Health Inswance Plan

PHIPA Personal Health Information Protection Act
PPA Protecting Patients Act, 2017
PIPEDA Personal Information and Protection of Electronic Documents Act
RHPA Regulated Health Professions Act, l99I
UQTR Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières
WHO World Health Organization
WSIB Workplace Safety and Insurance Board

























ITEM 1.1
Generated Internally

College of Ghiropractors of Ontario
Discipline Gommittee Report to Council
September 11,2020

I
Core Members: Mr. Rob MacKay, Chair

Dr. Colin Goudreau
Ms Robyn Gravelle
Dr. Steven Lester
Dr. Daniela Arciero, non-Council member
Dr. Liz Gabison, non-Council member
Dr. Colleen Pattrick, non-Council member
Dr. Janine Taylor, non-Council member, alternate
Dr. G. Murray Townsend, non-Council member, alternate
Dr. Matt Tribe, non-Council member, alternote

Staff Support: Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

As a core function of CCO, discipline matters have continued to be prioritized during the
pandemic. Prehearing conferences have been held virtually. In addition, since the last
meeting of Council, there have been no committee meetings or hearings.

A hearing in the Dr. Allen Guttman matter is tentatively scheduled for October 2,2020.
Panel to be determined.

I expect a busy fall in view of the various Notices of Hearing which are proceeding first
to prehearing conferences.

The work of the Discipline Committee is vital to protecting the public interest and I
would like to thank the members of the Discipline committee, with special

acknowledgement to the newest committee members. In addition, I would also like to
extend my thanks to all members of council who are willing to serve on panels.

Respectfully submitted,

Rob MacKay, Chair



|TEM 1.1.1

NOTICE TO THE CHIROPRACTIC PROFESSION
AND MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

RE REMOTE HEARINGS OF THE DISCPLINE COMMITTEE
(Approved by Council: June 17, 2020)

CCO is committed to openness, transparency, accountability and fairness as well as

safety during these extraordinary times involving COVID-19. Accordingly, although all
in-house hearings of the Discipline Committee including prehearings are suspended until
fuither notice from the Registrar, this notice provides the framework for virtual hearings
in appropriate circumstances.

During this temporary suspension of in-house hearings or at the discretion of the Disciple
Commiffee, the Discipline Committee will hear all hearings (including prehearings,

emergency orders any other motions) by virtual means except where the Chair is satisfied
the party opposing same will suffer undue prejudice.

Counsel and Members are expected to move hearings forward by remote or virtual
processes.

During the suspension of in-office operations hearings may be heard in writing or by
telephone or videoconference. Counsel and Members will be advised by the Registrar's

office or independent legal counsel how to connect to telephone and videoconference
hearings.

Hearing participants should have an appropriate technical setup and observe etiquette and

best practices appropriate to remote hearings. Some guidance on these points can be

found at https://www.oba.org/2020_COVID 194.{ews-UpdatesAJp-to-date-Justice-
Sector-InformationA.{ews-updatelB est-Practic es-for-Remote-Hearin gs.

The Discipline Committee virtual hearings remain open to the public throughout the

Covidlg pandemic in accordance with ss. 45 and 46 of the Health Professions
Procedural Code.

Any member of the media or the public who wishes to hear/observe a remote proceeding

may email their request to the Registrar's office (Rose Bustria RBustria@cco.on.ca) in
advance ofthe hearing. The person requesting access should advise ofthe hearing they

wish to hear/observe and their contact information. They will be expected to sign the

undertaking attached as Schedule'A'.

10

1

2

J

4.

5

6.

7



NOTICE TO THE CHIROPRACTIC PROFESSION
AND MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC
RE REMOTE HEARINGS OF THE DISCPLINE COMMITTEE
Approved by Council: June 77, 2020

10

11

t2.

13

14.

11

8

9

Every effort will be made to provide the requestor with information on how to
hear/observe the proceeding unless the proceedings are closed to the media and public by
order of the Discipline Committee. The number of observers may be limited by the
technology of the virtual platform.

The Registrar's office posts hearings to be scheduled to be heard by the Discipline
Committee at their website https://www.cco.on.calabout-cco/discipline-hearings-and-
decisions/.

Proceedings of the Discipline Committee are recorded in accordance with s. 48 of the
Health Professions Procedural Code. They must not be recorded by anyone else.

If affidavits are to be filed the CCO adopts the position of the Law Society of Ontario
which has interpreted s. 9 of the Commissioners for Taking Affidavits Act as not requiring
the commissioner to be in the physical presence of the client. Rather, alternative means
of commissioning, such as commissioning by videoconference will be sufficient. The
affidavit should state that it was commissioned by videoconference. For more details see

the Law Society website (https://lso.callawyers/practice-supports-and-
resources/topics/the-lawyer-client-relationship/commissioner-for-taking-affidavits-and-
notarv-publ/virtual-commiss ioning).

In accordance with Rule 5.2 of the Rules of Procedure of the Discipline Committee the
Chair of the Discipline Committee directs that unless the parties agree otherwise all
documents should be filed in continuous accessible PDF format by email with the
Registrar's office (Rose Bustria RBustria@cco.on.ca) or if the documents exceed
accessible capacity, then by means of a secure drop box or similar facility arranged by
counsel or, if necessary, coordinated through the Registrar's office or Independent Legal
Counsel for the hearing.

Self-represented Members who are unable to file materials by email should contact the
Registrar's office to make alternative arrangements. Please note that the Registrar's office
will only accept email filings for hearings that can proceed during the suspension period.

Caselaw and other source materials to be relied on in written argument by counsel or
Members should by hyperlinked. Where hyperlinks are provided it will not be necessary
to file a book of authorities.

1



|TEM 1.1.2

Email from College of Chiropractors of Ontario (Approved by Council: June 17,2020)

Subject: Access to public Discipline hearings held via videoconferencing

Good moming for afternoon],

Hearings of the Discipline Committee of the College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCO) are now
being held via videoconferencing to ensure the continuation of CCO operations while complying
with public health measures.

While we are unable to grant broad access to the Discipline Committee hearings with this
technology, we have developed the following process to give access to the public portions of the
hearings to media, members of the public and other stakeholders, where appropriate.

If you are interested in having access to these hearings held via videoconferencing:

1. Review, sign and return the attached form.

2. Those who return the form will receive an email a few days ahead of each hearing with a

request to respond if you still intend to view the upcoming hearing.

3. The day before the hearing you will receive an email with the videoconferencing link, if
you indicated an interest in viewing.

We have put this process in place to ensure we are able to accommodate everyone who wishes to
view the hearings as there are limits to the number of people able to access a videoconference.

We will address any questions you may have.

12



13
COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO

Approved by Council: June 17,2020

UNDERTAKING

Re: Accessing the public portion of meetings of Discipline Committee hearings held via
videoconferencing during the COVID-19 crisis

I agree to the following in order to be granted access to the public portion of hearings of the

Discipline Committee held via videoconferencing:

. I will not share or distribute the videoconferencing links that will be provided to
me.

I will ensure my microphone is muted at all times and that I will join and observe

the meeting without my video image being displayed.

I will not use the chat, reaction or any other communication or other functions.

. I agree not to make audio recordings of the meetings.

. I will not record or capture from the videoconference, by any photographic, video-
recording or other such methods, nor distribute, any visual images of the hearings.

By typing your full name in the signature field below you are signing this Undertaking
electronically and are thereby agreeing to be bound by its terms and conditions.

Signature:

Date:

a

a



14ITEM 1.1.3

lN THE MATTER OF a hearing of a panel of the Discipline Committee of the College of
Chiropractors of Ontario ("College") held pursuant to the provisions of the Health
Professions Procedural Code of the Regulated Health Professions Act, 7991, S.O.
1991, c. 18, as amended, respecting Dr. Paul Christopher of the City of Kitchener, in
the Province of Ontario;

TO; Dr. Paul Ghristopher
541 Queen Street S.,
Kitchener, Ontario N2G 1Wg

NOTICE OF HEARING

TAKE NOTICE THAT IT IS ALLEGED THAT:

1. You have has committed an act of professional misconduct as provided
by subsection 51(lxb.1) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the Chiropractic
Act, 1991, S.O. 1991, c.21, as amended, in that, during the period May - September
2018, at Christopher Chiropractic in Kitchener, Ontario, on one or more occasions you
sexually abused a patient known as "Patient A."

2. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1)(c) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the Chiropractic Act,
1991 , S.O. 1 991, c.21, as amended, and paragraph 1(2) of Ontario Regulation 852193,
in that, during the period May - September 2018, at Christopher Chiropractic in
Kitchener, Ontario, you contravened a standard of practice expected of the members of
the profession or failed to maintain the standard of practice expected of members of the
profession with respect to your treatment and/or documentation and/or conduct towards
a patient known as "Patient A."

3. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(lXc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the Chiropractic Act,
1991, S.O. 1991, c.21, as amended, and paragraph 1(5) of Ontario Regulation 852/93,
in that, durlng the period May - September in2018, at Christopher Chiropractic in
Kitchener, Ontario, you abused a patient known as "Patient A." verbally and/or
physical ly a nd/or psycholog ica lly and/or emotionally.

4. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(l )(c) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the Chiropractic Act,
1991 , S.O. 1 991, c.21, as amended, and paragraph 1(33) of Ontario Regulation 852193,
in that, during the period May- September tn 2A18, at Christopher Chiropractic in
Kitchener, Ontario, you engaged in conduct or performed an act or acts that, having
regard to allthe circumstances, would reasonably be regarded by members as
disgraceful, dishonourable, or unprofessional with respect to your treatment and/or
documentation and/or conduct towards a patient known as "Patient A."



15

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT the said allegations respecting misconduct will be heard
and determined by a panel of the Discipline Committee of the College of Chiropractors
("Panel") on seven days notice in 2020 at the offices of the College of Chiropractors of
Ontario, 59 Hayden Street, Suite 800, Toronto, Ontario, M4Y 0E7 and that you are
entitled to appear in person or by counsel before the Panel with your witnesses, if any,
and to adduce evidence and make submissions, at the aforesaid time and place.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT should you failto appear on the date and place aforesaid,
the hearing may proceed and a decision may be made in your absence and you will not
be entitled to any further notice in the proceedings.

The Code provides that if a Panel finds you to have committed an act of professional
misconduct, it may make an Order doing any one or more of the following:

directing the Registrar to revoke your Certificate of Registration;

directing the Registrar to suspend your Certificate of Registration for a
specified period of time;

directing the Registrar to impose specified terms, conditions, and
limitations on your Certificate of Registration for a specified or indefinite
period of time;

requiring you to appear before the Panel to be reprimanded;

requiring you to pay a fine of not more than 935,000.00 to the Minister of
Finance;

vi) require you to reimburse the College for funding provided for a patient that
was sexually abused under the program required under section 85.7 of the
Health Professions Procedural Code;

vii) require you to post security acceptable to the College to guarantee the
payment of any amounts you may be required to reimburse the College for
funding under the program required under section 85.7 of the Health
Professions Procedural Code;

viii) requiring you to pay all or part of the following costs and expenses:

a. the College's legal costs and expenses,

b. the College's costs and expenses incurred in investigating the matter,
and

2

i)

ii)

iii)

iv)

v)

c. the College's costs and expenses incurred in conducting the hearing.



3 16

Furthermore, the Panel may suspend the effect of its Order for a specified period of time
and on specified conditions, and where it makes an Order under paragraph (ii) or (iii)
above, it may speciff criteria to be satisfied for the removal of the suspension or the
removal of terms, conditions and limitations imposed by the Order on your Certificate of
Registration.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT you may obtain disclosure of the written or documentary
evidence to be used at the hearing by contacting the solicitor for the College, Mr. Chris
Paliare, Paliare Roland Rosenberg Rothstein LLP, 155 Wellington St. West, 35th Floor,
Toronto, ON MsV 3Hl, by telephone at (416) 646-4318, or by facsimile at (416) 646-
4338.

DATED at Toronto, this 1Sth day of July, 2020

s Ua-t,L lJ.,JIUd/
Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario



17|TEM 1.1.4

lN THE MATTER OF a hearing of a panel of the Discipline Committee of the College of
Chiropractors of Ontario ("College") held pursuant to the provisions of the Health
Professions Procedural Code of the Regulated Health Professions Acl 1997, S.O.
1991, c. 18, as amended, respecting Dr. James Emmett of the City of Ottawa, in the
Province of Ontario;

TO Dr. James Emmett
210 Centrum Blvd., Suite 116,
Orleans, Ontario, K1E 3Vz

NOTICE OF HEARING

TAKE NOTICE THAT IT IS ALLEGED THAT

1. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xb.1) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991, S.O. 1991, c. 21, as amended, in that during the
period 2011 -2018, while you were practising as a chiropractor at Centrum
Chiropractic in Orleans, Ontario, on one or more occasions, you sexually
abused a patient known as "A."

2. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21, as amended, and paragraph 1(21 of
Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that during the period 2011 -2018, whib you
were practising as a chiropractor at Centrum Chiropractic in Orleans,
Ontario, on one or more occasions, you contravened a standard of practice
of the profession or failed to maintain the standard of practice expected of
members of the profession with respect to your treatment of and/or conduct
towards "A."

3. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1)(c) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991, c. 21, as amended, and paragraph 1 (5) of
Ontaio Regulation 852/93, in that during the period 2011 - 2018, while you
were practising as a chiropractor at Centrum Chiropractic in Orleans,
Ontario, on one or more occasions, you abused a patient known as "A."
verbally and/or p hysically and/or psycholog ically and/or emotionally.

4. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21, as amended, and paragraph 1(33)
ol Ontaio Regulation 852193, in that during the period 2011 -2A18, while



2 18

you were practising as a chiropractor at Centrum Chiropractic in Orleans,
Ontario, you engaged in conduct or performed an act or acts, that, having
regard to allthe circumstances, would reasonably be regarded by members
as disgraceful, dishonourable or unprofessional with respect to your
treatment of and/or conduct towards a patient known as "A."

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT the said allegations respecting misconduct will be heard
and determined by a panel of the Discipline Committee of the College of Chiropractors
("Panel") on seven days notice in 2020 at the offices of the College of Chiropractors of
Ontario, 59 Hayden Street, Suite 800, Toronto, Ontario, M4Y 0E7 and that you are
entitled to appear in person or by counsel before the Panel with your witnesses, if any,
and to adduce evidence and make submissions, at the aforesaid time and place.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT should you failto appear on the date and place aforesaid,
the hearing may proceed and a decision may be made in your absence and you will not
be entitled to any further notice in the proceedings.

The Code provides that if a Panelfinds you to have committed an act of professional
misconduct, it may make an Order doing any one or more of the following:

i) directing the Registrar to revoke your Certificate of Registration;

lt) directing the Registrar to suspend your Certificate of Registration for a
specified period of time;

iii) directing the Registrar to impose specified terms, conditions, and
limitations on your Certificate of Registration for a specified or indefinite
period of time;

iv) requiring you to appear before the Panelto be reprimanded;

v) requiring you to pay a fine of not more than $35,000.00 to the Minister of
Finance;

vi) require you to reimburse the College for funding provided for a patient that
was sexually abused under the program required under section 85.7 of the
Health Professions Procedural Code;

vii) require you to post security acceptable to the College to guarantee the
payment of any amounts you may be required to reimburse the College for
funding under the program required under section 85.7 ol the Health
Professions Procedural Code;

viii) requiring you to pay all or part of the following costs and expenses:

a. the College's legalcosts and expenses,



3 19

b. the College's costs and expenses incurred in investigating the matter,
and

c. the College's costs and expenses incurred in conducting the hearing

Furthermore, the Panel may suspend the effect of its Order for a specified period of time
and on specified conditions, and where it makes an Order under paragraph (ii) or (iii)
above, it may specify criteria to be satisfied for the removal of the suspension or the
removal of terms, conditions and limitations imposed by the Order on your Certificate of
Registration.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT you may obtain disclosure of the written or documentary
evidence to be used at the hearing by contacting the solicitor for the College, Mr. Chris
Paliare, Paliare Roland Rosenberg Rothstein LLP, 155 Wellington St. West, 35th Floor,
Toronto, ON MsV 3Hl, by telephone at (416) 6464318, or by facsimile at (416) 646-
4338.

DATED at Toronto, this 1Oth day of August, 2020.

$
Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario



20rrEM 1.1.5

lN THE MATTER OF a hearing of a panel of the Discipline Committee of the College of
Chiropractors of Ontario ("College") held pursuant to the provisions of the Health
Professions Procedural Code of the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1997, S.O.
1991, c. 18, as amended, respecting Dr. Jonathan Forbes of the City of Brampton, in
the Province of Ontario;

TO: Dr. Jonathan Forbes
301 A - {8 Kensington Rd.,
Brampton, Ontario, L6T 4S5

NOTICE OF HEARING

TAKE NOTICE THAT IT IS ALLEGED THAT:

1. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1) (b.l) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991, c. 21, as amended, in that during the period
2003 -2016, while practicing as a chiropractor in Brampton, Ontario, on one or
more occasions, you sexually abused a patient known as "Patient A."

2. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 13.1(3) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21 , as amended, in that during the period
2009 - 2017, while practicing as a chiropractor in Brampton, Ontario, you:

a. engaged in the practice of chiropractic when you were not personally
insured against professional liability under a professional liability
policy and you did not belong to an association that provided you with
personal protection against professional liability; andlor

b. did not comply with the requirements respecting professional liability
insurance or protection against professional liability specified by the
College of Chiropractors of Ontario and prescribed in CCO By-Law 16:
Professional Liability lnsurance and/or paragraph 17 of O. Reg. 137111-
Registration.

3. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(l)(c) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act,l991, S.O. 7991 , c.21, as amended, and paragraph 1(2) of
Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that on one or more occasions, while practicing
as a chiropractor in Brampton, Ontario, you contravened a standard of practice
of the profession or failed to maintain the standard of practice expected of
members of the profession with respect to:



21

a, your assessment and/or treatment and/or documentation and/or conduct
towards a patient known as "Patient A." during the period 2003 - 2016;
and/or

b. your failure to carry professional liability insurance during the period
2409 -2017.

4. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act,1991, S.O. 1991, c.21, as amended, and paragraph 1(33) of
Ontario Regulation 852193, in that on one or more occasions while practicing
as a chiropractor in Brampton, Ontario, you engaged in conduct or performed an
act, that, having regard to allthe circumstances, would reasonably be regarded
by members as disgraceful, dishonourable or unprofessionalwith respect to:

a. your assessment and/or treatment and/or documentation and/or conduct
towards a patient known as "Patient A." during the period 2003 -2016;
and/or

b. your failure to carry professional liability insurance during the period
2009- 2017.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT the said allegations respecting misconduct will be heard
and determined by a panel of the Discipline Committee of the College of Chiropractors
("Panel") on seven days notice in2020 at the offices of the College of Chiropractors of
Ontario, 59 Hayden Street, Suite 800, Toronto, Ontario, M4Y 0E7 and that you are
entitled to appear in person or by counsel before the Panel with your witnesses, if any,
and to adduce evidence and make submissions, at the aforesaid time and place.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT should you fail to appear on the date and place aforesaid,
the hearing may proceed and a decision may be made in your absence and you will not
be entitled to any further notice in the proceedings.

The Code provides that if a Panelfinds you to have committed an act of professional
misconduct, it may make an Order doing any one or more of the following:

directing the Registrar to revoke your Certificate of Registration;

directing the Registrar to suspend your Certificate of Registration for a
specified period of time;

directing the Registrar to impose specified terms, conditions, and
limitations on your Certificate of Registration for a specified or indefinite
period of time;

2

i)

ii)

iii)

iv) requiring you to appear before the Panel to be reprimanded;



22

v) requiring you to pay a fine of not more than $35,000.00 to the Minister of
Finance;

vi) require you to reimburse the College for funding provided for a patient that
was sexually abused under the program required under section 85.7 of the
Health Professions Procedural Code;

vii) require you to post security acceptable to the College to guarantee the
payment of any amounts you may be required to reimburse the College for
funding under the program required under section 85.7 of the Health
Professions Procedural Code;

viii) requiring you to pay all or part of the following costs and expenses

a. the College's legal costs and expenses,

b. the College's costs and expenses incurred in investigating the matter,
and

c. the College's costs and expenses incurred in conducting the hearing.

Furthermore, the Panel may suspend the effect of its Order for a specified period of time
and on specified conditions, and where it makes an Order under paragraph (ii) or (iii)
above, it may specify criteria to be satisfied for the removal of the suspension or the
removal of terms, conditions and limitations imposed by the Order on your Certificate of
Registration.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT you may obtain disclosure of the written or documentary
evidence to be used at the hearing by contacting the solicitor for the College, Mr. Chris
Paliare, Paliare Roland Rosenberg Rothstein LLP, 155 Wellington St. West, 35th Floor,
Toronto, ON MsV 3H1, by telephone at (416) 646-4318, or by facsimile at (416) 646-
4338.

DATED at Toronto, this 15th day of July,2020

Lr,^rtfJMl

3

U0,,r,t *U
Willson, Registrar and General Counsel
of Chiropractors of Ontario



rTEM 1.1 .6

23

lN THE MATTER OF a hearing of a panel of the Discipline Committee of the College of
Chiropractors of Ontarlo ("College") held pursuant to the provisions of lhe Health
Professrbns Procedural Code of the Regulated Health Professrons Acl 7997, S.O.
1991, c. 18, as amended, respecting Dr. Allen Guttman of the community of Thornhill,
in the Province of Ontario,

TO: Dr. Allen Guttman
3 Glenoaks Court,
Thornhill, Ontario, L4J 6N7

NOTIGE OF HEARING

TAKE NOTICE THAT IT IS ALLEGED THAT:

1. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Healih Professions Procedural Code of the Chiropractic Act,
1991, S.O. 1991 , c.21, as amended, and paragraph 1(4 of Onhrio Regulation 852/93,
in that in during the period January 1,2017 to June 30, 2017, while practicing as a
chiropractor in Thornhill, Ontario, you contravened a standard of practice ol the
profession or failed to maintain the standard of practice expected of members of the
profession with respect to one or more patients because you:

a. failed to assess andior treat in accordance with the standards of practice;
b, failed to provide care that was diagnostically or therapeutically necessary;
c. failed to rnaintain patient records, including failing to properly document

exam i n atio ns, assessments, a nd /or treatm ents ;

d. failed to obtain written inforrned consent to treatment;
e. failed to provide patients with accurate, complete information regarding

fees and billing practices in advance of providing treatment;
f, failed to charge fees that were fair and reasonable;
g. billed patients depending on their insurers and insurance coverage;
h. charged excessive fees for unit billing; and/or
i. failed to provide accurate and appropriately itemized accounts.

2. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the Chirapractic Act,
1991, S.O. 1991, c. 21, as amended, and paragraph 1(3) of Ontario Regulation 852/93,
in that during the period January 1, 2017 to Jurre 30,2017, while practicing as a
chiropractor in Thornhill, Oniario, on one or more occasions, you did anything for one or
more patients for a therapeutic, preventative, palliative, diagnostic, cosmetic or other
health-related purpose in a situation in which a consent is required by law, without such
a consent.



24
3. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the Chiropractic Act,
1 991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21, as amended, and paragraph 1(19) of Ontaria Regulation
BSU93, in that during the period January 1 , 2017 to June 30,2017 , while practicing as
a chiropractor in Thornhill, Ontario, you failed to keep records as required by the
regulations regarding one or more patients.

4. You have cornmitted an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1)(c) of the Heatth Professions Procedural Code of the Chiropractic Act,
1991, S.O. 1991 , c. 21, as amended, and paragraph 1 {22) of Ontario Regulation
852n3, in that during the period January 1,2017 to June 30, 2017, while practicing as
a chiropractor in Thornhill, Ontario, you signed or issued, in your professional capacity,
a document you knew contained a false or misleading statement regarding one or more
patients.

5. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 5t(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the Chiropractic Act,
1991 , S.O. 1991, c. 21, as amended, and paragraph 1(23) of Ontario Regutation
852/93, in that during the period January 1 ,2017 to June 30, 2017, while practicing as

a chiropractor in Thornhill, Ontario, you subrnitted an account or charge for services
that you knew were false or misleading regarding one or more patients.

6, You have committed an act of professlonal misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1)(c) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the Chiropractic Act,
1991, S,O. 1991, c. 21, as amended, and paragraph 1(24) of Ontario Regulation
852/93, in that during the period January 1 , 2017 to June 30, 2017, white practicing as

a chiropractor in Thornhill, Ontario, you failed to disclose to one or more patients the
fee for a service before the service was provided, incJuding a fee not payable by the
patient.

7. You have committed an act of professional misconducl as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the Chiroprcctic Act,
1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21, as amended, and paragraph '1(33) of Ontario Regulation
852n3, in that during the period January 1 ,2017 to June 30, 2017, while practicing as
a chiropractor in Thornhill, Ontario, you engaged in conduct or performed an act, that,
having regard io allthe circumstances, would reasonably be regarded by members as
disgraceful, dishonourable or unprofessional because you:

a. failed to assess and/or treat in accordance with the standards of practice;
b. failed to provide care that was diagnostically or therapeutically necessary;
c. failed to maintain patient records, including failing to properly docurnent

examinations, asses$ments, and/or treatments;
d, failed to obtain written informed consent to treatment;
e. failed to provide patients with accurate, complete information regarding

fees and billing practices in advance of providing treatment;

2



25
f. failed to charge fees that were fair and reasonable;
g. billed patients depending on their insurers and insurance coverage;
h. charged excessive fees for unit billing; and/or
i. failed to provide accurate and appropriately itemized accounts.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT the said allegations respecting misconduct will be heard
and determined by a panel of the Discipline Commiftee of the College of Chiropractors
("Panel") on seven days notice in 2020 at the offices of the College of Chiropractors of
Ontario, 59 Hayden Street, Suite 800, Toronto, Ontario, M4Y 0E7 and that you are
entitled to appear in person or by counsel before the Panel with your witnesses, if any,
and to adduce evidence and make submission$, at the aforesaid time and place.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT should you fail to appear on the date and place aforesaid,
the hearing may proceed and a decision may be made in your absence and you will not
be entitled to any further notice in the proceedings.

The Code provides that if a Panelfinds you to have committed an act of professional
misconduct, it may make an Order doing any one or more of the following:

i) directing the Registrar to revoke your Certificate of Registration;

ii) directing the Registrar to suspend your Certificate of Registration for a
specified period of time;

ii i) directing the Registrar to impose specified terms, conditions, and
limitations on your Certificate of Registration for a specified or indeflnite
period of time;

iv) requiring you to appear before the Panel to be reprimanded;

v) requiring you to pay a fine of not more than $35,000.00 to the Minister of
Finance;

vi) requiring you to pay all or part of the following costs and expenses:

a. the College's legal costs and expenses,

b. the College's costs and expenses incurred in investigating the matter,
and

c, the College's costs and expenses incurred in conducting the hearing

Furthermore, the Panel may $u$pend the effect of its Order for a specified period of time
and on specified conditions, and where it makes an Order under paragraph (ii) or (iii)
above, it may specify criteria to be satisfied for the removal of the suspension or the

3



26
removal of terms, conditions and limitations imposed by the Order on your Certificate of
Registration,

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT you may obtain disclosure o{ the written or documentary
evidence to be used at the hearing by contacting the solicitor for the College, Mr. Chris
Paliare, Paliare Roland Rosenberg Rothstein LLP, 155 Wellington St. West, 35th Floor,
Toronto, ON MsV 3H1, by telephone at (416) 6464318, or by facslmile at (416) 6a6-
4338_

DATED at Toronto, this 28th day of February, 202A.

& L'!-1-j*4
Jo-An Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

of Chiropractors of Ontario

4

Col



|TEM 1.1.7 27
lN THE MATTER OF a hearing of a panel of the Discipline Committee of the College of
Chiropractors of Ontario ("College") held pursuant to the provisions of the Health
Professions Procedural Code of the Regulated Health Professions Acf, 7991, S.O.
1991, c. 18, as amended, respecting Dr. William Mcleod of the City of Ottawa, in the
Province of Ontario;

TO: Dr. William McLeod
1563 Bank Street
Ottawa, Ontario L8S 187

NOTICE OF HEARING
(Re: Registrar's lnvestigation)

TAKE NOTICE THAT IT IS ALLEGED THAT:

1. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xb.1) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the Chiropractic
Act, 1991, S.O. 1991 , c.21, as amended, in that on April 6, 2018, at Blossom
Chiropractic in Ottawa, Ontario, you sexually abused a patient known as "Patient A."

2. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(lXc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the Chiropractic
Act, 1991, S.O. 1991, c.21,as amended, and paragraph 1(2) of Ontario Regulation
852/93, in that on April 6,2018, at Blossom Chiropractic in Ottawa, Ontario, you
contravened a standard of practice of the profession or failed to maintain the
standard of practice expected of members of the profession with respect to your
assessment, treatment, documentation and/or conduct towards a patient known as
"Patient A."

3. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions ProceduralCode of the Chiropractic
Act, 1991, S.O. 1991 ,c.21, as amended, and paragraph 1(5) of Ontario Regulation
852193, in that on April 6, 2018, at Blossom Chiropractic in Ottawa, Ontario, you
abused a patient known as "Patient A." verbally and/or physically and/or
psychologically and/or emotionally.

4. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(lXc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the Chiropractic
Act, 1991, S.O. 1991 , c.21, as amended, and paragraph 1(33) of Ontario Regulation
852193, in that on April 6,2018, at Blossom Chiropractic in Ottawa, Ontario, you
engaged in conduct or performed an act or acts, that, having regard to all the
circumstances, would reasonably be regarded by members as disgraceful,
dishonourable or unprofessionalwith respect to your treatment and/or conduct
towards a patient known as "Patient A."



2 28

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT the said allegations respecting misconduct will be heard
and determined by a panel of the Discipline Committee of the College of Chiropractors
("Panel") on seven days notice in 2020 at the offices of the College of Chiropractors of
Ontario, 59 Hayden Street, Suite 800, Toronto, Ontario, M4Y 0E7 and that you are
entitled to appear in person or by counsel before the Panel with your witnesses, if any,
and to adduce evidence and make submissions, at the aforesaid time and place.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT should you failto appear on the date and place aforesaid,
the hearing may proceed and a decision may be made in your absence and you will not
be entitled to any further notice in the proceedings.

The Code provides that if a Panelfinds you to have committed an act of professional
misconduct, it may make an Order doing any one or more of the following:

directing the Registrar to revoke your Certificate of Registration;

directing the Registrar to suspend your Certificate of Registration for a
specified period of time;

directing the Registrar to impose specified terms, conditions, and
limitations on your Certificate of Registration for a specified or indefinite
period of time;

iv) requiring you to appear before the Panelto be reprimanded;

v) requiring you to pay a fine of not more than $35,000.00 to the Minister of
Finance;

vi) require you to reimburse the College for funding provided for a patient that
was sexually abused under the program required under section 85.7 of the
Health Professions Procedural Code;

vii) require you to post security acceptable to the College to guarantee the
payment of any amounts you may be required to reimburse the College for
funding under the program required under section 85.7 of the Health
Professions Procedural Code;

viii) requiring you to pay all or part of the following costs and expenses

a. the College's legal costs and expenses,

b. the College's costs and expenses incurred in investigating the matter,
and

i)

ii)

iii)

c. the College's costs and expenses incurred in conducting the hearing.



3 29

Furthermore, the Panel may suspend the effect of its Order for a specified period of time
and on specified conditions, and where it makes an Order under paragraph (ii) or (iii)
above, it may specify criteria to be satisfied for the removal of the suspension or the
removal of terms, conditions and limitations imposed by the Order on your Certificate of
Registration.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT you may obtain disclosure of the written or documentary
evidence to be used at the hearing by contacting the solicitor for the College, Mr. Chris
Paliare, Paliare Roland Rosenberg Rothstein LLP, 155 Wellington St. West, 35th Floor,
Toronto, ON MsV 3H1, by telephone at (416) 646-4318, or by facsimile at (416) 646-
4338.

DATED at Toronto, this 1Oth day of August, 2020.

o CL" ^t- {-UC,U ol
Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario



ITEM 1.1.8 30

lN THE MATTER OF a hearing of a panel of the Discipline Committee of the College of
Chiropractors of Ontario ("College") held pursuant to the provisions of lhe Health
Professions Procedural Code of the Regulated Health Professions Acf, 1997, S.O.
1991, c. 1B, as amended, respecting Dr. Gregory Nesterenko of the City of North Bay,
in the Province of Ontario;

TO: Dr. Gregory Nesterenko
156 Lakeshore Dr.,
North Bay, Ontario, PlA 2A8

NOTICE OF HEARING

TAKE NOTICE THAT IT IS ALLEGED THAT:

1. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xb.1) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21 , as amended, in that during the period
December 2010 - 2014, while practicing as a chiropractor in North Bay, Ontario,
on one or more occasions you sexually abused a patient known as "Patient A."

2. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act,1991, S.O. 1991, c.21, as amended, and paragraph 1(2) of
Ontaio Regulation 852/93, in that on one or more occasions, while practicing as
a chiropractor in North Bay, Ontario, you contravened a standard of practice of
the profession or failed to maintain the standard of practice expected of
members of the profession with respect to your assessment and/or treatment
and/or documentation and/or conduct towards a patient known as "Patient A."
during the period December 2A10 -2014.

3. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1)(c) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropnctic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 2'1, as amended, and paragraph 1(33) of
Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that on one or more occasions while practicing as
a chiropractor in North Bay, Ontario, you engaged in conduct or performed an
act, that, having regard to allthe circumstances, would reasonably be regarded
by members as disgraceful, dishonourable or unprofessionalwith respect to your
assessment and/or treatment and/or documentation and/or conduct towards a
patient known as "Patient A." during the period December 2010 - 2014.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT the said allegations respecting misconduct will be heard
and determined by a panel of the Discipline Committee of the College of Chiropractors
("Panel") on seven days notice in 202A at the offices of the College of Ghiropractors of
Ontario, 59 Hayden Street, Suite 800, Toronto, Ontario, M4Y 0E7 and that you are



31

entitled to appear in person or by counsel before the Panel with your witnesses, if any,
and to adduce evidence and make submissions, at the aforesaid time and place.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT should you failto appear on the date and place aforesaid,
the hearing may proceed and a decision may be made in your absence and you will not
be entitled to any further notice in the proceedings.

The Code provides that if a Panel finds you to have committed an act of professional
misconduct, it may make an Order doing any one or more of the following:

i) directing the Registrar to revoke your Certificate of Registration;

ii) directing the Registrar to suspend your Certificate of Registration for a
specified period of time;

iii) directing the Registrar to impose specified terms, conditions, and
limitations on your Certificate of Registration for a specified or indefinite
period of time;

iv) requiring you to appear before the Panel to be reprimanded;

v) requiring you to pay a fine of not more than $35,000.00 to the Minister of
Finance;

require you to reimburse the College for funding provided for a patient that
was sexually abused under the program required under section 85.7 of the
Health Professions Procedural Code;

vii) require you to post security acceptable to the College to guarantee the
payment of any amounts you may be required to reimburse the College for
funding under the program required under section 85.7 of the Health
Professions Proced u ral Code;

viii) requiring you to pay all or part of the following costs and expenses:

a. the College's legal costs and expenses,

b. the College's costs and expenses incurred in investigating the matter,
and

c. the College's costs and expenses incurred in conducting the hearing.

Furthermore, the Panel may suspend the effect of its Order for a specified period of time
and on specified conditions, and where it makes an Order under paragraph (ii) or (iii)
above, it may specify criteria to be satisfied for the removal of the suspension or the

2

vi)



3 32

removal of terms, conditions and limitations imposed by the Order on your Certificate of
Registration.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT you may obtain disclosure of the written or documentary
evidence to be used at the hearing by contacting the solicitor for the College, Mr. Chris
Paliare, Paliare Roland Rosenberg Rothstein LLP, 155 Wellington St. West, 35th Floor,
Toronto, ON MsV 3Hl, by telephone at (416) 6464318, or by facsimile at (a16) 6a6-
4338.

DATED at Toronto, this '15th day of July, 2020.

6CI-^/.rt tJdIL}l/
Jo-A{rn Willson, Registrar and General Counsel
College of Chiropractors of Ontario









36
chiropractor at Beaches Rehabilitation Centre in Toronto, Ontario, on one or more
occasions, you practised the profession while your ability to do so was impaired by any
substance.

5. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1)(c) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the Chiropractic Act,
1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21 , as amended, and paragraph 1(33) of Ontario Regulation
852193, in that during the period October 2016 - February 2019, while you were
practising as a chiropractor at Beaches Rehabilitation Centre in Toronto, Ontario, you
engaged in conduct or performed an act or acts, that, having regard to all the
circumstances, would reasonably be regarded by members as disgraceful,
dishonourable or unprofessional with respect to one or more of:

a) having a concurrent sexual and professional relationship with a patient known
as "Patient A.";

b) abusing a patient known as "Patient A." verbally and/or physically and/or
psychologically andlor emotionally;

c) taking a naked picture or pictures of a patient known as "Patient A." without
her knowledge and/or consent and/or threatening to make such pictures public;
and/or

d) practising the profession while your ability to do so was impaired by any
substance, including but not limited to cocaine and/or alcohol.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT the said allegations respecting misconduct will be heard
and determined by a panel of the Discipline Committee of the College of Chiropractors
("Panel") on seven days notice in 2020 at the offices of the College of Chiropractors of
Ontario, 59 Hayden Street, Suite 800, Toronto, Ontario, M4Y 0E7 and that you are
entitled to appear in person or by counsel before the Panel with your witnesses, if any,
and to adduce evidence and make submissions, at the aforesaid time and place.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT should you failto appear on the date and place aforesaid,
the hearing may proceed and a decision may be made in your absence and you will not
be entitled to any further notice in the proceedings.

The Code provides that if a Panel finds you to have committed an act of professional
misconduct, it may make an Order doing any one or more of the following:

i) directing the Registrar to revoke your Certificate of Registration;

directing the Registrar to suspend your Certificate of Registration for a
specified period of time;

2

ii)



3 37
iii) directing the Registrar to impose specified terms, conditions, and

limitations on your Certificate of Registration for a specified or indefinite
period of time;

iv) requiring you to appear before the Panelto be reprimanded;

v) requiring you to pay a fine of not more than $35,000.00 to the Minister of
Finance;

vi) require you to reimburse the College for funding provided for a patient that
was sexually abused under the program required under section 85.7 of the
Health Professions Procedural Code;

vii) require you to post security acceptable to the College to guarantee the
payment of any amounts you may be required to reimburse the College for
funding under the program required under section 85.7 of the Health
Professions Proced ural Code;

viii) requiring you to pay all or part of the following costs and expenses:

a. the College's legal costs and expenses,

b. the College's costs and expenses incurred in investigating the matter,
and

c. the College's costs and expenses incurred in conducting the hearing.

Furthermore, the Panel may suspend the effect of its Order for a specified period of time
and on specified conditions, and where it makes an Order under paragraph (ii) or (iii)
above, it may specifu criteria to be satisfied for the removal of the suspension or the
removal of terms, conditions and limitations imposed by the Order on your Certificate of
Registration.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT you may obtain disclosure of the written or documentary
evidence to be used at the hearing by contacting the solicitor for the College, Mr. Chris
Paliare, Paliare Roland Rosenberg Rothstein LLP, 155 Wellington St. West, 35th Floor,
Toronto, ON MsV 3Hl, by telephone at (416) 6464318, or by facsimib at (41

4338.

DATED at Toronto, this 15th day of July, 2020

M
io-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel
College of Chiropractors of Ontario



|TEM 1.1.11 38
lN THE MATTER OF a hearing of a panel of the Discipline Committee of the College of
Chiropractors of Ontario ("College") held pursuant to the provisions of the Health
Professions Procedural Code of the Regulated Health Professions Acf, 1991, S.O.
1991, c. 18, as amended, respecting Dr. Shawn Rossi of the City of Sudbury, in the
Province of Ontario;

TO: Dr. Shawn Rossi
1984 LaSalle Blvd.,
Sudbury, Ontario, PsA 2A4

NOTICE OF HEARING

TAKE NOTICE THAT IT IS ALLEGED THAT:

1. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1)(b.1) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991, S.O. 1991, c. 21 , as amended, in that on or about May 2,
2018, while practicing as a chiropractor at Absolute Health in Sudbury, Ontario,
you sexually abused a patient known as "Patient A."

2. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991, S.O. 1991, c.21, as amended, and paragraph 1(2) ot
Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that on or about May 2,2018, while practicing as a
chiropractor at Absolute Health in Sudbury, Ontario, you contravened a
standard of practice of the profession or failed to maintain the standard of
practice expected of members of the profession with respect to your assessment
and/or treatment and/or documentation and/or conduct towards a patient known
as "Patient A."

3. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropmctic Act, 1991, S.O. 1991 , c. 21 , as amended, and paragraph 1(33) of
Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that on or about May 2,2018, while practicing as a
chiropractor at Absolute Health in Sudbury, Ontario, you engaged in conduct or
performed an act, that, having regard to allthe circumstances, would reasonably
be regarded by members as disgraceful, dishonourable or unprofessionalwith
respect to your assessment and/or treatment and/or documentation and/or
conduct towards a patient known as "Patient A."

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT the said allegations respecting misconduct will be heard
and determined by a panel of the Discipline Committee of the College of Chiropractors
("Panel") on seven days notice in 2020 at the offices of the College of Chiropractors of



39
Ontario, 59 Hayden Street, Suite 800, Toronto, Ontario, M4Y 0E7 and that you are
entitled to appear in person or by counsel before the Panel with your witnesses, if any,
and to adduce evidence and make submissions, at the aforesaid time and place.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT should you failto appear on the date and place aforesaid,
the hearing may proceed and a decision may be made in your absence and you will not
be entitled to any further notice in the proceedings.

The Code provides that if a Panel finds you to have committed an act of professional
misconduct, it may make an Order doing any one or more of the following:

i) directing the Registrar to revoke your Ceftificate of Registration;

ii) directing the Registrar to suspend your Certificate of Registration for a
specified period of time;

iii) directing the Registrar to impose specified terms, conditions, and
limitations on your Certificate of Registration for a specified or indefinite
period of time;

iv) requiring you to appear before the Panelto be reprimanded;

v) requiring you to pay a fine of not more than $35,000.00 to the Minister of
Finance;

vi) require you to reimburse the College for funding provided for a patient that
was sexually abused under the program required under section 85.7 of the
Health Professions Procedural Code;

vii) require you to post security acceptable to the College to guarantee the
payment of any amounts you may be required to reimburse the College for
funding under the program required under section 85.7 of the Health
Professions Procedural Code;

viii) requiring you to pay all or part of the following costs and expenses:

a. the College's legal costs and expenses,

b. the College's costs and expenses incurred in investigating the matter,
and

c. the College's costs and expenses incurred in conducting the hearing.

Furthermore, the Panel may suspend the effect of its Order for a specified period of time
and on specified conditions, and where it makes an Order under paragraph (ii) or (iii)
above, it may specify criteria to be satisfied for the removal of the suspension or the

2



3 40

removal of terms, conditions and limitations imposed by the Order on your Certificate of
Registration.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT you may obtain disclosure of the written or documentary
evidence to be used at the hearing by contacting the solicitor for the College, Mr. Chris
Paliare, Paliare Roland Rosenberg Rothstein LLP, '155 Wellington St. West, 35th Floor,
Toronto, ON MsV 3Hl, by telephone at (416) 646-4318, or by facsimib at (416) 646-
4338.

DATED at Toronto, this 1Oth day of August, 2020.

n Willson, Registrar and General Counsel
College of Ghiropractors of Ontario

c



41|TEM 1.1.12

lN THE MATTER OF a hearing of a panel of the Discipline Committee of the College of
Chiropractors of Ontario ("College") held pursuant to the provisions of the Heatth
Professions Procedural Code of the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1997, S.O.
1991, c. 18, as amended, respecting Dr. Priya Sharma of the City of Markham, in the
Province of Ontario;

TO Dr. Priya Sharma
7595 Markham Rd., Unit #9,
Markham, Ontario, L3S 086

NOTICE OF HEARING

TAKE NOTICE THAT IT IS ALLEGED THAT:

1. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xb.1) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
chiropractic Act, 1991, s.o. 1991, c. 21, as amended, in that during the period
2415 - January 30,2018, while you were working as a chiropractor at the Seva
Chiropractic and Health Centre in Markham, Ontario, on one or more occasions,
you sexually abused a patient known as "Patient A."

2. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1)(c) of the Health Professions Procedural code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21 , as amended, and paragraph 1(2) of
ontario Regulation 852/93, in that during the period 201s - January 30, 2018,
while you were working as a chiropractor at the Seva Chiropractic and Health
centre in Markham, ontario, on one or more occasions, you contravened a
standard of practice of the profession or failed to maintain the standard of
practice expected of members of the profession with respect to your assessment
and/or treatment and/or documentation andlor conduct towards a patient known
as "Patient A." and/or a patient known as "Patient B."

3. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1Xc) of the Health Professions Procedural code of the
Chiropractic Act,1991, S.O. 1991, c.21, as amended, and paragraph 1(b) of
ontario Regulation 852/93, in that during the period 201s - January 30, 2018,
while you were working as a chiropractor at the Seva Chiropractic and Health
centre in Markham, ontario, on one or more occasions, you abused a patient
known as "Patient A." and/or a patient known as "Patient 8." verbally and/or
physically and/or psychologically and/or emotionally.

4. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51(1)(c) of the Health Professions Procedural code of the



2 42

Chiropractic Act, 1991, S.O. 1991, c.21, as amended, and paragraph 1(19) of
Ontario Regulation 852/93, in that during the period 2015 - January 30, 2018,
while you were working as a chiropractor at the Seva Chiropractic and Health
Centre in Markham, Ontario, you failed to keep records as required by the
regulations for one or more of patients known as "Patient A.", "Patient B.",
"Patient C.", and " Patient D."

5. You have committed an act of professional misconduct as provided by
subsection 51 (1)(c) of the Health Professions Procedural Code of the
Chiropractic Act, 1991 , S.O. 1991 , c. 21 , as amended, and paragraph 1 (33) of
Ontario Regulation 852193, in that during the period 2015 - January 30, 2018,
while you were working as a chiropractor at the Seva Chiropractic and Health
Centre in Markham, Ontario, you engaged in conduct or performed an act or
acts, that, having regard to allthe circumstances, would reasonably be regarded
by members as disgraceful, dishonourable or unprofessional with respect to your
assessment and/or treatment and/or documentation and/or conduct towards a
patient known as "Patient A." and/or a patient known as "Patient B."

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT the said allegations respecting misconduct will be heard
and determined by a panel of the Discipline Committee of the College of Chiropractors
("Panel") on seven days notice in 2020 at the offices of the College of Chiropractors of
Ontario, 59 Hayden Street, Suite 800, Toronto, Ontario, M4Y 0E7 and that you are
entitled to appear in person or by counsel before the Panel with your witnesses, if any,
and to adduce evidence and make submissions, at the aforesaid time and place.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT should you fail to appear on the date and place aforesaid,
the hearing may proceed and a decision may be made in your absence and you will not
be entitled to any further notice in the proceedings.

The Code provides that if a Panel finds you to have committed an act of professional
misconduct, it may make an Order doing any one or more of the following:

directing the Registrar to revoke your Certificate of Registration;

directing the Registrar to suspend your Certificate of Registration for a
specified period of time;

directing the Registrar to impose specified terms, conditions, and
limitations on your Certificate of Registration for a specified or indefinite
period of time;

iv) requiring you to appear before the Panel to be reprimanded;

i)

ii)

iii)

v) requiring you to pay a fine of not more than $35,000.00 to the Minister of
Finance;



3 43

vi) require you to reimburse the College for funding provided for a patient that
was sexually abused under the program required under section 85,7 of the
Health Professions Procedural Code;

vii) require you to post security acceptable to the College to guarantee the
payment of any amounts you may be required to reimburse the College for
funding under the program required under section 85.7 of the Health
Professions Proced ural Code;

viii) requiring you to pay all or part of the following costs and expenses:

a. the College's legal costs and expenses,

b. the College's costs and expenses incurred in investigating the matter,
and

c. the College's costs and expenses incurred in conducting the hearing.

Furthermore, the Panel may suspend the effect of its Order for a specified period of time
and on specified conditions, and where it makes an Order under paragraph (ii) or (iii)
above, it may specify criteria to be satisfied for the removal of the suspension or the
removal of terms, conditions and limitations imposed by the Order on your Certificate of
Registration.

AND TAKE NOTICE THAT you may obtain disclosure of the written or documentary
evidence to be used at the hearing by contacting the solicitor for the College, Mr. Chris
Paliare, Paliare Roland Rosenberg Rothstein LLP, 155 Wellington St. West, 35th Floor,
Toronto, ON M5V 3Hl, by telephone at(416) 6464318, or by facsimile at (416) 646-
4338.

DATED at Toronto, this 1Oth day of August, 2A20

;ct{
Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

College of Chiropractors of Ontario



ITEM 1.2
Generated Internallv

Gollege of Chiropractors of Ontario
Fitness to Practise Gommittee Report to Gouncil
September 1'|.,2020

44

Members: Ms Robyn Gravelle, Chair
Dr. Gerard Arbour
Dr. Janit Porter

Staff Support: Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel
Mr. Joel Friedman, Director, Policy & Research

Committee Mandate

To hear and determine allegations of mental or physical incapacity referred to the

committee by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee.

o To review applications for reinstatement following an incapacity finding.

I. Introduction and Recommendations

The Fitness to Practise Committee has no recommendations at this time.

Since the last council meeting the committee has not held a meeting or hearing.

There are no acknowledgements at this time.

Respectfully submitted,

Ms Robyn Gravelle, Chair
Fitness to Practise Committee

o



ITEM 1.3 45
Submitted to CCO on August 25,2020

Gollege of Ghiropractors of Ontario
lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Report to Council
September 11,2020

Members: Dr. Sarah Green, Chair
Ms Georgia Allan, Public Member
Mr. Gangandeep Dhanda, Public Member, Alternate
Dr. Steve Gillis, non-Council Member
Mr. John Papadakis, Public Member
Dr. Mike Staffen, Council Member

Staff Support: Ms Christine McKeown,Investigations, Complaints & Reports Officer
Ms Tina Perryman, Manager, Inquiries, Complaints & Reports

As you know it has been quite busy for the Inquiries, Complaints & Reports Committee
(ICRC). The increased number of complaints puts a significant burden on the Committee.
However, I am happy to say the Committee was quite productive during the past few months
and have made thoughtful and cautious decisions on the matters in front of them.

Since the last written report meeting, the ICRC met on three occasions by teleconference and

zoom, we reviewed 93 complaints and one report. ICRC made decisions on77 complaints.
Eight section 75(c) investigator appointments were requested by the ICRC. We conducted
one oral caution by zoom, and the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB)
upheld one Committee decision (attached).

I would also like to thank Ms Georgia Allan for her time on ICRC, she will be greatly

missed, and I would also like to welcome Mr. Gangandeep Dhanda for being an alternate
member of the Committee. I would also like to welcome back Dr. Steve Gillis, Dr. Mike
Staffen and Mr. John Papadakis. A special thank you to the staff, Ms Tina Perryman and Ms
Christine McKeown for their support and expertise.

Respectfully submitted,

Dr. Sarah Green, Chair
Inquiries, Complaints & Reports Committee



46
Health Professions
Appeal and Review
Board

La Commission
d'appel et de r6vision
des professions de la sant6

Ontario

In reply please quote: FiIe # 19-CRV-0186

June 30,2020

CONFIDENTIAL

Dr. Maximiliaan van Woudenberg Applicant

RespondentDr. Darrin Milne, D.C.

Dear Dr. van Woudenberg and Dr. Milne

Rn: Colryr.arNT REwEw - Curnopnacrrc
Maxnnn Ia,lN vAI[ WoIDENBERG AND DARRN Mn Nn, D.C.

Enclosed herewith is a true copy of the Decision and Reasons of the Health Professions Appeal
and Review Board in the above-noted matter.

While your file is now closed, please note that parties to Complaint Reviews of the Health
Professions Appeal and Review Board have the right to request a judicial review of the Board's
decision. You may wish to consider obtaining legal advice to determine what options are

available to you. To request a judicial review contaot the Divisional Court at416-327-5100.

Yours sincerely,
HF',ALTH PROFESSIONS APPEAL A}[D REVIEW BOARD

Alpha Aberra
Case Officer

Encl: Decision dated June 30,2020

cc: College of Chiropractors of Ontario (CCOPRA File # 17-FE-15)

RECEIVED
JUL 0 3 2020

coIr,EGE 0r omofRAclrons

151 Bloor Skeet Wesg 96 Floor
Toronto, Ontario M5S lS4

Tel./tE:l€ 416-327-8512
Toll free/Sans frais 1 -866-282-217 9

TTY/ATS 41 6-326-7TTY(889)
TTY Toll freey'Afg sans frais 1-877-301-0TTY(889)

Facsimile/T616co piew 4 I 6-32'l -8524

151, rue Bloor ouest, 9" 6tage
Toronto, Ontario M5S lS4



|TEM 1.3.1

File # I9-CRV-0186

PRESENT

Maria Capulong, Designated Vice-Chair, Presiding
Thomas Kelly, Vice-Chair
Yasmeen Siddiqui, Board Member

Review held on November 27, 2019 at Hamilton, Ontario

IN THE MATTER OF A COMPLAINT REVIEW UNDER SECTION 29(1) of the Health

Professions Procedural Code, Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act, /991, Statutes

of Ontario, 1991, c.18, as amended

BETWEEN:

MAXIMILIAAN VAN WOUDENBERG
Applicant

DARRIN MILNE, DC
Respondent

Appearances:

47

and

The Applicant:
For the College of Chiropractors of Ontario:

Maximilliaan van Woudenberg
Christine Mcleod (by teleconference)

DECISION AND REASONS

I. DECISION

It is the decision of the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board to confirm the

decision of the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee of the College of

Chiropractors of Ontario to take no further action.

1

RECEIVED
JUL 0 3 2020

coI,tEcE os' cHlnoFnacTons
or



48
2. This decision arises fi'om a request made tn the Tlealtlr Professions Appcal and Rcview

Board (the Board) by Maximiliaan van Woudenberg (the Applicant) to review a decision

of the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee (the Committee) of the College of

Chiropractors of Ontario (the College). The decision concerned a complaint regarding the

conduct and actions of Darrin Milne, DC (the Respondent). The Committee investigated

the complaint and decided to take no further action.

il. BACKGROUND

The Applicant underwent an Independent Medical Evaluation (IME) on December 9,

20t4, atthe request of his employer.

The IME was coordinated through an assessment company, Core Integrated Health

Resources Inc. (Core IHR) and was conducted by a psychiatrist as the IME assessor

An assessment report, dated January 22,2015, was completed by the IME assessor and

provided to the Applicant's employer.

The Applicant's employer received further medical documents from the Applicant's

family physician and a treating psychologist. The Applicant's employer forwarded this

information to the IME assessor and asked for further comment in light of this new

information.

7 . An Addendum Report was completed and dated May 5,20t5

The Respondent, a chiropractor, was retained by Core IHR to review and provide quality

assurance of IME reports.

9. The Applicant was concerned about the Respondent's involvement in the IME process

The Committee's 2017 Decision

In a decision dated November 23,2017, a panel of the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports

Committee decided to take no further action.

J

4

5

6.

8

2

10



49

11

t2

13

The Applicant appealed this 2017 Committee decision to the Health Professions Appeal

and Review Board.

In a decision dated July 18, 2018, pursuant to section 35(1) of the Code, the Board

returned this matter to the Committee, and required it to undertake further investigation

and render a new decision. The Board recommended that the Committee

request more detailed and specific information regarding the Respondent's role and

responsibilities in the IME process, from both the Respondent and Core IHR, and provide

the Applicant with an opporlunity to comment on such new information

A further investigation was conducted and the Committee rendered a new decision. On

March 7,2019,the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee again decided to take

no further action.

The Complaint and the Response

The Complaint

14. The Committee summarizedthe Applicant's complaint as follows

Practicing outside scope of CCO

a As a chiropractor, the fRespondent] reviewed an IME report by a

psychiatrist. It would appear the fRespondent] is practicing outside the

scope of the CCO's standards of practice when reviewing psychiatry

reports.

In reviewing psychiatry reports of other parties, it is the [Applicant's]

understanding that the [Respondent] as a chiropractor is effectively

practicing psychiatry without a licence.

It would appear that the [Respondent] is not following the code of ethics

in regard to his defined duties and contractual obligations.

a

J

a



50
Furwurding untl Obtaining Infitrmation withoxtt cansent

The [Respondent] has been given information about a patient without

consent. Confidential and private medical information of the [Applicant]

was provided to a psychiatrist by the [Respondent] without the consent or

knowledge of the fApplicant].

The May 5,2015, report notes approximately 144 pages of documents

being forwarded to a psychiatrist by Core IHR i.e. the fRespondent]

without the [Applicant's] consent and knowledge.

In a report dated May 5,2015, Core IHR forwarded documents to the

psychiatrist to evaluate the health of the [Applicant]. The [Applicant] did

not consent to these documents, the [Applicant] had and continues to have

no knowledge of the content or origin of these documents about him

which was used for a psychiatric evaluation or about the means andlor

processes by which the [Respondent] collected these documents without

consent and disclosed private information without consent to another

doctor for the purpose of medical evaluation.

The fRespondent] reviewed a psychiatry report by the psychiakist, dated

May 5, 2015, and with the Core IHR letterhead forwarded this report to

Sheridan College. The [Applicant] had not provided consent.

o

a

a

a

The [Respondent] did not protect the public's right to safe, effective and

ethical health care.

The [Respondent] did not abide to the Personal lnformation Protection and

Electronic Documents Act that protects the collection, use and disclostre

of personal information.

The Applicant also raised concerns that sometime between the sending of his complete

medical file from Core IHR to the IME Assessor, a "substantial number of pages appear

to have gone missing from the complete medical file" and that "[a]t this time it is not

clear how the [Respondent's] role...relates to the apparent missing pages.

a

a

15

4



51

The Resoonse

t6. The Respondent denied any allegation of professional misconduct and submitted that at

all times he had conducted himself ethically and professionally. He responded that:

as he was retained by Core IHR, his responsibilities were to Core IHR in the

provision of professional service;

there was no breach of privacy as the Applicant was not a patient of his and

thus there was no doctor-patient relationship giving rise to a separate duty of

cate'

it is a presumptive condition of an independent review retainer that all

requisite consent has been obtained by the agency engaging the professional;

under the scope of the engagement all materials were exchanged between

Core IHR and the Respondent;

no materials were delivered or deliverable by the Respondent to third parties;

the Applicant signed a form dated October 1,2014, consenting to participate

in the IME. The form contained a clause that read:

I understand that the medical assessment company/medical assessor may
require medical informationfrom my physician or any other health
practitioner as part of the assessment and I agree to provide my consent to
have the required information released directly to the medical assessment

comp any /medical as s es s or

the Applicant signed a consent on December 9,2014, stating "I understand

that the report(s) may contain personal and medical information that was

given to Core Integrated Resources Inc. through the course of the assessment

or provided by the referral source."

The Committee's 2019 Decision

17. The Committee reinvestigated the complaint and decided to take no further action.

a

a

a

o

o

5



52

20.

III. REQUEST FOR REVIEW

18. In a letter dated March 14,2019, the Applicant requested that the Board review the

Committee's 2019 decision.

19. The Respondent did not attend the Review. The Board notes there is no legislative

requirement for parties to attend a review and draws no inference from the Respondent's

non-attendance.

IV. POWERS OF THE BOARI)

After conducting a review of a decision of the Committee, the Board may do one or more

of the following:

a) confirm all or part of the Committee's decision;

b) make recommendations to the Committee;

c) require the Committee to exercise any of its powers other than to request a

Registrar' s investigation.

2I The Board cannot recommend or require the Committee to do things outside its

jurisdiction, such as make a finding of misconduct or incompetence against the member

or require the referral of allegations to the Discipline Committee that would not, if
proved, constitute either professional misconduct or incompetence.

V. ANALYSIS AND REASONS

Pursuant to section 33(1) of the Health Professions Procedural Code (the Code), being

Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991,the mandate of the Board in a

complaint review is to consider either the adequacy of the Committee's investigation, the

reasonableness of its decision, or both.

22

6



53
23 In conducting this complaint Review, it is important to note the role of the Committee.

The Board observes that the Committee's mandate is that of a screening committee

concerning complaints received about its members. The Committee considers the

information it obtains in order to determine whether, in all of the circumstances, a referral

of specified allegations of professional misconduct to the College's Discipline Committee

is warranted or if some other remedial action should be taken. The Committee does not

conduct a hearing or make findings of misconduct.

The Board has considered the Applicant's submissions, examined the Record of

Investigation (the Record), and reviewed the Committee's decision.

Adequacy of the Investigation

25 An adequate investigation does not need to be exhaustive. Rather, the Committee must

seek to obtain the essential information relevant to making an informed decision

regarding the issues raised in the complaint.

26. The Committee obtained the following documents

the Applicant's letter of complaint with enclosures;

letter of Response to the complaint from the Respondent;

multiple submissions and correspondence from the Applicant;

consent forms regarding the IME signed by the Applicant;

the Committee' s 2017 decision;

the Board's 2018 decision;

the Respondent's description of his role and responsibilities in the IME

process; and

the IME assessor's records pertaining to the Applicant.

27 At the Review, the Applicant submitted that the Committee's investigation was

inadequate for a number of reasons, the most salient of which was the assertion that the

Committee had failed to seek out and compare the various drafts of the report to ascertain

what, if any, changes were made after the Respondent received a copy of the IME

assessor's report.

24

a

a

o

a

a

a

a

a

7



54

30

28.

29

31

32

33

The Applicant submitted that if the Committee had obtained the various drafts of the

assessment report, the Committee could then conduct a comparative sfudy to ascertain

whether or not the Respondent had changed a word or made more significant alterations.

The Board is not persuaded that even if prior versions of the assessment report did exist -
which is not definitive, that such documents would have affected the Committee's

decision. The Board questions the value of drafts which, by definition, are not the final

version of the document and are therefore not necessarily reflective of the author's final

conclusions.

The Board again notes, as described above, that the Committee's mandate is that of a

screening committee.

The Committee requested clarification from the Respondent as to his role in the IME

process and he provided an explanation of his role, including that "As a result of my

years in the industry and expertise, I function as the clinical co-ordinator for several IME

companies in southern Ontario. Here, I am retained as a clinical advisor to the quality

control team with respect to providing quality assurance on assessment reporting. This

role allows an IME company to have a regulated health care professional (RHCP) ensure

that outgoing reports meet the request of the referring source."

The Board notes that an adequate investigation does not need to be exhaustive, but must

seek to obtain the essential information to make an informed decision regarding the

issues raised in the complaint.

The Board concludes that the Committee collected and considered the relevant

information to assess the complaint. There is no indication of further information that

might reasonably be expected to have affected the decision, should the Committee have

acquired it. Accordingly, the Board finds that the Committee's investigation was

adequate.

8



55

34.

Reasonableness of the Decision

In considering the reasonableness of the Committee's decision, the question for the Board

is not whether it would arrive at the same decision as the Committee, but whether the

Committee's decision can reasonably be supported by the information before it and can

withstand a somewhat probing examination. In doing so, the Board considers whether the

decision falls within a range of possible, acceptable outcomes that are defensible in

respect of the facts and the law.

35 In rendering its decision, the Committee reviewed the Record and made the following

observations:

Practicine outside scope of CCO

it appears the Respondent did not meet the Applicant;

it does not appear that the Respondent prepared his own report regarding the

Applicant;

after thoroughly reviewing all the documents in the Record of lnvestigation,

the Committee is of the opinion that there is no information that the

Respondent had an active and substantive role or that he was actively involved

in the preparation of the initial IME report and the addendum;

there is no information that the Respondent offered his own professional

opinion with regard to the Applicant's condition in any way; and

there is no information that he acted outside the scope of practice of

chiropractic.

Forwarding and Obtaining Information Without consent

the Applicant signed a form on October I,2014, entitled "Confirmation of

Participation AND Release of Medical/Functional Information Contained in

Disability Management File"; and

it is unclear what, if any, involvement the Respondent had in the decision to

seek an Addendum report or in the process.

a

a

o

a

a

o

9

a



56
Accuracv/flle management

the Committee recognized that missing pages could have a substantive effect

on the fairness and accuracy of a report but despite further investigation and

thorough review of the documentation, was not in a position to opine on the

issue.

36 The Applicant submitted that the Committee's decision was unreasonable. He pointed out

that:

a

a

the examination was an IPE (Independent Psychiatric Evaluation) and not an

IME and thus the Respondent did not have the medical authority to provide an

independent review since, as a chiropractor, he was only authorized to

participate in IMEs;

the IME assessor only received 12 pages for review and more than 50 pages

were missing, which was an indicator that the Respondent did not do any

Quality Assurance; and

when he signed the consent form, he was under the impression it was only for

one specific time and not ongoing.

37

38.

The Board finds the Committee's conclusions to be reasonable. As set out previously,

there is no indication that the Respondent ever met or assessed the Applicant. Nor is there

any information in the Record to indicate that the Respondent was in some manner

practicing outside the scope ofhis designated profession.

Conceming confidentiality, the Board notes that the Committee reviewed the consents

contained in the Record which the Applicant signed to consent to disclose his medical

information both through his employer and his family physioian. The Board further notes

that the addendum was constrained to a document review of additional documents

submitted by health professionals who had conducted their own assessments of the

Applicant. In the Board's view, it was reasonable for the Committee to find that it was

"unclear what, if any involvement the Respondent had in the decision to seek an

addendum report or in the process."

10



57

39

40

Lastly, with respect to the accuracy of the files provided to the IME assessor, the Board

notes that the Committee was not in a position to opine on the issue. Further, the

Applicant himself was uncertain wha!, if any, role the Respondent played in providing

documents to the IME assessor or ensuring the IME assessor received the documents.

In the Board's view, there is nothing in the Record or advanced at the Review, which

would lead the Board to conclude that the Committee's findings were uffeasonable. The

Committee's decision makes it clear that it considered the Applicant's concerns,

addressed them and provided suitable reasons for its conclusions.

4I. Given the foregoing, the Board finds the Committee's decision to be reasonable.

VI. DECISION

42 Pursuant to section 35(1) of the Code, the Board confirms the decision of the Committee

to take no further action.

ISSUED June 30,2020

Thomas Kelly

Siddiqui

11



|TEM 1.3.2

Ryan Armstrong, PhD

152 Antrim Crescent

London, ON, N6E 1G8

519-639-4442

Health Professions Appeal & Review Board

151 Bloor St. West, 9th Floor

Toronto, ON, MsS 1S4

4L5-327-8512

To the Board,

This letter expresses my request for a review of the following College of Chiropractors of Ontario

decisions by the Board:

58

Col file identifier Health professional (member)

F 20-M Dr. Matthew Faught

Thomson, D, Thomson, J & Scott-2O-MR-

20(Armstrong)

Dr. DarrylThomson
Dr. Jasper Thomson
Dr. Andrew Scott

Gelber-20-MR-20 Dr. Joshua Gelber

Rodrigues & Bui-20-MR-20(Armstrong) Dr. Andre Rodrigues

Dr. Thao Bui

Choe-20-MR-20 Dr. Eve Choe

Grieve-20-M ro Dr. Lindsay Grieve

Foullong & Middleton-20-M R-20(Armstrong) Dr. Mark Foullong

Dr. Trevor Middleton

Peever, K & Peever, C-20-MR-20(Armstrong) Dr. Ken Peever
Dr. Callum Peever

Koski-20-MR-20 Dr. Kim Koski

Guild-20-M Dr. Su Guild

McG r-20-MR-20 rmstro Dr. Scott McG

Lambert & Hindson-2O-MR-2O(Armstrong) Dr. Marie-Claude Lambert
Dr. Cra Hindson

Du uis-20-MR Dr. Michel Dupuis

Pike-20-M Dr. Robert Stewart Pike

Thomson-20-M stro Dr. Allison Thomson

Smith & Czubak-20-M R-24(Armstrong) Dr. Frazer Smith
Dr. Mark Czubak

Sinclai ron Dr. Mo Sinclair

Hazel-20-M stro Dr. Crai Hazel

Posa & M eCrady-20-M R-20(Armstrong) Dr. Matthew Posa

Dr. Holly McCrady

Ka rradia-20-M R-20(Arm strong) Dr. Jillka Kapadia



59
All cases concern false claims made by chiropractors broadly involving "immune boosting" or
implied/explicit benefits in the prevention or treatment of COVID-19. As such claims demonstrate either
gross incompetence or fraudulent activity on behalf of each member which has potentially put the
public and their patients at risk during the pandemic.

Appropriate action was not taken by the ICRC in any case. This set of decisions for which I request

review rnakes up a srnall subset uf the rflost egregious cases I identified and forwarded to the CCO. I am

willing to provide additional reasons for my request for review in each individual case.

ln addition, there is growing evidence beyond these decisions that the College of Chiropractors of
Ontario is willfully failing their duty to protect the public. This is not merely incompetence, but an effort
to protect the interests of a minority of practitioners within the profession whose practices conform to a

philosophy that is not compatible with the mandate to protect the public. The Board must understand

ihis context to fully appreciate the unreasonableness of these (and other) decisions.

Please do not hesitate to reach out to me

Sincerely,

Ryan Armstrong

$4-6;:"



ITEM 1.4
Generated Internally

Gollege of Ghiropractors of Ontario
Patient Relations Committee Report to Council
September 11,2020

60

Members: Mr. John Papadakis, Chair
Dr. Janit Porter
Mr. Amandeep Singh
Dr. Michelle Campbell, non-Council member
Dr. Carolyn Wood, non-Council member

Staff Support: Mr. Joel Friedman, Director, Policy and Research
Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

l. lntroduction and Recommendations

Since the last council meeting the Patient Relations Committee has not held a meeting.

The Committee has no recommendations at this time.

There are no acknowledgements at this time.

Sincerely,
Mr. John Papadakis
Chair, Patient Relations



Submitted September I, 2020

ITEM 1.5
61

Gollege of Ghiropractors of Ontario
Quality Assurance Committee Report to Gouncil
September '11,2020

Members:
Ms Robyn Gravelle, Chair (effective August 14,2020)
Dr. Paul Groulx, Chair (until August 14,2020)
Dr. Gerard Arbour
Mr. Rob MacKay
Dr. Elizabeth Anderson-Peacock, non-council member (effective August 14,2020)
Dr. Joel Weisberg, non-council member (until August 14,2020)

Staff:
Mr. Joel Friedman, Director, Policy & Research

Dr. J. Bruce Walton, Director of Professional Practice
Ms. Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

Chair's Report

l. lntroduction

Since the last meeting of Council, the Quality Assurance (QA) Committee has met once on July
20, 2020 virtually through the Zoom platform.

ll. Report

There are no recommendations to Council at this time.

The Committee continued the policy development work and distribution of Quality Assurance

documents delayed due to the COVID-l9 pandemic and the focus of CCO on priorities related to

the pandemic, including retum to work protocols for members and patients.

The Committee reviewed the approximately 400 pages of additional feedback from both
members and patients related to amendments to Guideline G-008: Business Practices and

proposed additional amendments based on the feedback received, to be recommended to the

Executive Committee. Amendments are summarized in the memorandum distributed to members

and stakeholders included in the Council package.

The Committee also continued the work of recommending to the Executive Committee the

distribution for feedback to stakeholders, including members, a draft standard of practice and

guideline related to health care claims on members' websites and social media pages. Feedback

will be collected until October 30, 2020, at which time, the Committee will review all feedback

received and make further recommendations to Council.



Quality Assurance Report to Council: September 11,2020

The Committee will continue its work of reviewing all relevant standards of practice, policies
and guidelines, with a specific focus on guidelines related to telecare and other protocols related
to the COVID-l9 pandemic.

lll. QA lnitiatives

A. Record Keeping Workshop (RKW)

The Quality Assurance Committee held its first virtual record keeping workshop on September l,
2020. Approximately 45 members were in attendance through using the ZOOM on-line platform.
Feedback to date has been extremely positive. The Committee anticipates an additional record
keeping workshop will be held later this fall to help in accommodating the applicants for
registration delayed from the cancellation of the May/June CCEB examinations.

B. Peer and Practice Assessment (PPA)

Towards the end of 2019 CCO staff, on direction from the CCO Quality Assurance Committee,
made member selections for participation in the 2020 Peer and Practice Assessment cycle PPA
1.0 and PPA 2.0. The QA Committee was prepared to launchthe2}2} PPA cycle immediately
following the PA workshop in January and many PPA assignments were sent to assessors in late
January, early February 2020.

As of mid-March 2020, many of the assigned assessments had been completed and submitted to
CCO for processing.

Following the state of emergency order by the Ontario government due to the COVID-I9
pandemic in late March 2020, CCO moved to suspend all operations save for those concerned
with regulating the profession during the pandemic. As such, both PPA 1.0 and 2.0 were
suspended until it was safe to resume conducting those assessments.

For many years, it has been evident that the PPA program is one of the most effective CCO
initiatives used to govern the profession in the public interest by proactively conducting
mandatory Peer and Practice Assessments of members to assure all members are maintaining
compliance with all CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines. Now that CCO members
have been resuming typical clinical operations, applying the CCO pandemic guidelines, the QA
Committee is taking steps to resume both PPA 1.0 and PPA 2.0. It is the intention that resuming
the2020 PPA cycle will help to continue to assure all members are not only maintaining
compliance with existing standards of practice, polices and guidelines but also incorporating all
new guidelines necessary to practice during the COVD-19 pandemic.

The QA Committee communicated to all assessors to provide guidance to safely and effectively
resume conducting peer and practice assessments during this pandemic. This included a protocol
checklist that assessors would use before conducting their assigned assessments (see attached).
Additionally, assessors were provided the following:

o The option for any assessor to decline proceeding with any further assessments during
this cycle.

62

2



Quality Assurance Report to Council: Septe mber 1 1,2020
63

o If any assessor, for whatever reason, does not want to continue with their assigned

assessments or any further assessment assignments for this current cycle, please notiff
Dr. J. Bruce Walton, CCO Director of Professional Practice immediately.

o CCO will make arrangements to reassign those assessments.

. Please know that any assessor, who, for the time being does not wish to proceed with
any in person assessments, will remain on the CCO Peer Assessor roster for future
assignments.

lV. Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the members and staff of the Quality Assurance committee for all of their
contributions during this time.

Respectfully submitted,

Ms Robyn Gravelle (Chair, effective August 14,2020)
Dr. Paul Groulx (Chair, until August 14,2020)

Quality Assurance Committee

3



9t2t2020 Constant Contact

|TEM 1.5.1

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
L'Ordre des Chiropraticiens de I'Ontario

President's Message - Monday, August 24, 2O2O

On Friday, August 14,2A2O, CCO conducted its first ever virtual elections
to compose all the committees to April 2A2t. Please join me in
congratulating many of CCO's public members in continuing and
assuming key leadership roles at CCO, including Mr. Robert MacKay, Vice-
President and Chair, Discipline Committee; Ms Robyn Gravelle, Treasurer
and Chair, Fitness to Practise and Quality Assurance Committees; and Mr.

John Papadakis, Chair; Patient Relations Committee. I am also pleased
and honoured to continue in the role of President. CCO's committee
compositions are linked here:

www. cco. on, cala bout-cco/who-we-a relcom m ittees/

At the August 14, 2020 special Council meeting, all non-council
committee member applicants were given an opportunity to speak to
Council about their background and experience and desire to serve on
CCO committees. On behalf of CCO Council, I appreciate the level of
engagement demonstrated by the number of eligible members who
submitted applications and who took the time to attend the meeting and
express their interest.

Included with this President's Message are several important Quality
Assurance Committee documents. I encourage all stakeholders including
members to review the documents and provide feedback where indicated.
It is important for all stakeholders to know that every CCO committee has
an obligation to regularly review all by-laws, standards of practice,
policies and guidelines developed by the committee, and to recommend
any changes to Council. Keep in mind that the lens of any recommended
change is public interest protection. If any stakeholder (individual or
organization), has feedback for any committee's consideration, please
ensure the feedback provides evidence (not just opinion), about how the
public would be better protected by any change. CCO considers all
feedback, including of course, feedback from the public and chiropractic
patients, in all its deliberations.

Quality Assurance Committee: Approved Amendments

. _Qualty Assurance Committ
Guideline G-008: Business Practices

. Guideline G-008: Business Practices

Quality Assurance Committeel Draft Proposed Documents for
Distribution and Feedback (please provide any feedback by
October 30, 2O2O)

@il
64

https://campaign-ui.constantcontact.com/campaign/campaigns/l ist 1t3



9t2t2020 Constant Contact

QUaIiW nssurance Committ pjsg]
Standard of Practice and Guideline for Circulation and Feedback
Draft Standard of Practice: Health Care Claims in Adveftising,.
Websites and Social Media
Draft Guideline: Health Care Claims in Advertising,_lvebsiEes aM
Social Media
Online Feedback Form

Sincerely,

Dr. Dennis Mizel. President

August 14,2O2O - CCO Council conducts its first virtual elections via zoom with
scrutineers monitoring electronic results while maintaining social distancing in the CCO
boardroom.

College of Chiropractors of Ontario, 59 Hayden Street,
Suite 800, Toronto, Ontario M4YAE7 Canada

Safe U nsu bscri be'* { reci pje n!S_emAj.l}_

Upiele_PrSf!-le I About our service proyder

Sent by cco,info@cco.on.ca powered by

a

65

a

https://campaign-ui.constantcontact.com/campaign/campaigns/list 2t3



66

@)
CollecE oF GntnopRAcroRs oF Oruranlo

MeUOnaNDUM

To: Stakeholders including Members

Dr. Paul Groulx, Chair, Quality Assurance Committee (until August
14,2020)
Ms Robyn Gravelle, Chair, Quality Assurance Committee (effective
August 14,2020)

Date: August 2020

Re: Amendments to Guideline G-008: Business Practices

From

l. Introduction

CCO has approved amendments to Guideline G-008: Business Practices related to the
offering and processing of billinglfinancial arrangements between members and patients.

These amendments were approved at the August 12,2020 Executive Committee meeting
and will come into effect on September 12,2020.

Amendments were approved following distribution of draft amendments for feedback, a

review of that feedback by the Quality Assurance Committee and further amendments

which reflect those reviews and discussions. CCO thanks all members and stakeholders
for their feedback and participation in the self-regulation of the chiropractic profession,

and in particular the patients who provided their unique perspective on billing/financial
arrangements.

Amendments to Guideline G-008: Business Practices were previously approved at the
February 26,2020 Council meeting; however, implementation of these amendments

scheduled for April 15,2020 was delayed due to the COVID-l9 pandemic and the receipt
of approximately 400 pages of additional feedback from members and patients. This
additional information was reviewed by the Quality Assurance Committee at its July 20,

2020 meeting.

ll. Summary of Amendments

The amendments to Guideline G-008: Business Practices are summarized as follows

If offering a billing(inancial arrangement, the billing/ftnancial arrangement
must be representative of a plan of care agreed upon by the member and
patienl

A.

The primary purpose of the doctor/patient relationship is to provide a plan of care that is



Memorandum, dated August 2020 from
Dr. Paul Groulx, Chair, Quality Assurance Committee (until August 14,2020)
Ms Robyn Gravelle, Chair, Quality Assurance Committee (effective August 14,2020)
to Members and Stakeholders

2

67
intended to address the patient's complaints, symptoms and/or reasons for visiting a

chiropractor, the patient's objectives and goals for treatment, and the diagnosis or clinical
impression reached by the member based on the results of the consultation and
examination. If a member chooses to offer a billing/financial affangement to a patient, it
must be based on the plan of care that is intended to achieve these objectives for care.

The plan of care and clinical goals of the member and patient should drive any sort of fee
affangement, not the other way around. If a member offers a billing/financial
alrangement, any billinglfrnancial affangement must be directly representative of and
connected to the teatmentlcare plan, including wellness care, agreed upon by the
member and patient.

Members are reminded that any billing/financial alrangement for a plan of care must
include regular re-assessments, which must be conducted when clinically necessary and,
in any event, no later than each 24th visit.

Periodic re-assessments are an essential part ofa plan ofcare to review patient progress
and outcomes, any new conditions presented by the patient, the patient's objectives and
goals at this point compared to the initial presentation, further recommendations for care
and/or a prognosis to reach a stated outcome of care and review of any billing/financial
arrangement. Any billing/financial anangement must be representative of the plan of
care, which includes period re-assessments.

Based on overwhelming feedback from members and patients, CCO is not restricting a

billing/financial arrangement to a specific number of treatments; however, any
billing/financial arrangement must adhere to the above requirements.

A patient always has the right to pay for each treatment or service as it is provided, which
must be based on fair and reasonable fees for services. Chiropractic care must never be
denied if a patient wishes not to agree to a billing/financial arrangement, but instead opts
to pay for each treatment or service as it is provided.

B. lYhen offiring a billingfiinancial arrangemen| a member must provide the
patient with a copy of the signed, written agreement relating to the
billing/ftnancial awangernent, The member must also provide the patient with
un itemized sccount of the billing/jinancial arrangement upon request by the
patient.

A patient must be comfortable and have an understanding of all aspects of a
billing/financial arrangement. A patient must always have the choice to pay for each
service as it is provided. Chiropractic care must never be denied or compromised based
on a patient's preference to pay for each service as it is provided. A member must always
ensure a patient is comfortable and has an understanding of any billing/financial
arrangement. A member must never subject a patient to pressure or duress to agree to a
billing/financial arrangement or to prevent a patient from opting out of a billing/financial
arrangement and receiving a refund for any unused services. If a member and patient do



Memorandum, dated August 2020 from
Dr. Paul Groulx, Chair, Quality Assurance Committee (until August 14,2020)
Ms Robyn Gravelle, Chair, Quality Assurance Committee (effective August 14,2020)
to Members and Stakeholders

3

agree to a billing/financial arangement, the patient must be provided with a signed,

written copy which details the arrangement, includes a link to the CCO website and

includes the rights of the patient. Guideline G-008: Business Practices provides examples

of how to provide a refund to a patient who opts out.

C. If any discount is offered ss part of a billing/iinancial arrungement, it must be

clear, agreed upon by the member and the patient and applied
contemporsneously with the agreement of the billing/iinancial arrangement -
i.e. at the beginning of the treatment plan.

D. Billing(inancial arrangement refunds must be provided within 30 days of the
request and refund calculations must use the anit cost/service as outlined in the
billin g/fi n an cial aw an g em e nt.

The previous version of Guideline G-008: Business Practices included requirements and

specific examples of providing refunds based on the agreed upon unit cost per service.

Further amendments require this refund to be provided within 30 days of the patient

request. Furthermoreo members must always ensure they have the resources available to
provide this refund upon request from the patient. Any fees collected for a plan of care

are in a sense held in trust by the member, until the care is provided.

lll. What this Means for Patients

Under existing CCO regulations and guidelines, patients have the right to choose to pay

for each service as it is provided, opt out of a billing/financial alrangement and receive a
refund for any unused portion of a billing/financial affangement. Additionally, patients

have the right to discuss the appropriateness of a billing/financial arrangement as it
relates to their plan of care, goals and objectives for care and comfort level and not be

subjected to any pressure or duress in agreeing to a billing/financial arrangement. Patients

must also be ensured an appropriate refund for any unused portion of a billing/financial
arrangement in the event of any incident that may intemrpt a course of care, such as

bankruptcy, death or dissolution ofa practice.

Under the amendments, patients also have the right to be notified in advance if any
services are not covered under a billing/financial arrangement, be provided with updates

on the progress of the billing/financial arrangement upon request and receive a written
copy of the billing/financial arrangement.

lV. What this Means for Members

Amendments to Guideline G-008: Business Practices were approved by CCO on August
L2,2020 and will come into effect on September 12,2020. Members should review the

updated Guideline G-008: Business Practices and incorporate any necessary changes into
their practic es involving billing/financial arrangements.

68



Memorandum, dated August 2020trom
Dr. Paul Groulx, Chair, Quality Assurance Committee (until August 14,2020)
Ms Robyn Gravelle, Chair, Quality Assurance Committee (effective August 14,2020)
to Members and Stakeholders

Please note: amendments to Guideline G-008: Business Practices will only affect
new billing/financial arrangements on a go forward basis following September 12,
2020. Thereforeo any pre-existing billing/financial arrangements may continue
through until their completion under the previous guideline.

4

69



70

Busrruess PRRcncES

@)Guideline G-008
Quality Assurance Committee
Approved by Council: November 29,2007
Amended: February 26,2013, April 26, 20'17, November 29,2018,
February 26,2020 and August 12,2020 (amendments from February 26,2020 and
Auqust 12,2920 cominq into effect September 12.20201

Note to readers: In the event of any inconsistency betvveen this document and the legislation that
affects chiropractic practice, the legislation governs.

lrureNr

To advise members of acceptable business practices in a clinical practice, including but not
limited to: the disclosure of fees to the patient for the delivery of care and services, unit billing,
billing/financial arrangements as they relate to care or a plan of care delivered to the patient; and

the billing of third-party payors.

Oe.Jecnves

To clarifu for membersthe Professional Misconduct Regulation 852/93 concerning
Business Practices.

To establish requirements for members to provide accurate and complete information to
patients regarding fees, unit billing, and/or billingifinancial arrangements, as they relate

to the delivery ofcare and services.

To establish requirements for members to clearly communicate to patients their rights
when discussing fees for service provided. This includes the patient's right to choose
and/or refuse billing/financial anangements (as outlined below) and their right to opt out
of such plans at any time during care.

To establish requirements for members to understand, comply with and communicate
with patients about the policies and procedures for billing third-party payors

DescnrpnoN oF GUTDELINE

Fees

Fees for chiropractic care must reflect and be consistent with the examination and care that is
recommended, provided and documented in the patient health record.

a

a

a

a



71

When creating and implementing fees for service in clinical practice, a member must adhere to
the following conditions:

fees must be for services that are diagnostically or therapeutically necessary, and
provided in accordance with accepted CCO regulations, standards of practice, policies
and guidelines;

Guideline G-008: Business Practices

a

a

a

a

a

fees must be fair and reasonable;

billing practices as they relate to patient care must be disclosed to patients in advance of
any cate. This includes, but is not limited to:

o the nature of the consultation, examination, care or plan of care or other services
to be provided,

o who is delivering the care,
o ifany care is to be delegated, assigned orreferred,
o the use ofany adjunctive therapies and/or services,
o the sale ofany products, and/or
o practices relating to billing third-party payors (see section on "Billing Third Party

Payors");

an account for professional services must be itemized and readily available, if:
o requested to do so by the patient or a person or agency who is to pay, in whole or

in part, for the services, or
o the account includes a fee for aproduct or device or a service otherthan care;

a comparative re-assessment, as set out in standard of practice 5-002: Record Keeping
and Guideline G-013: Chiropractic Assessments, must:

o be conducted when clinically necessary and, in any event, no later than each24th
visit;

o be sufficiently comprehensive for the member to:

ongoing care; and

includes a discussion of any billing/financial arrangement.

Fees for Service as Provided

A member charging and collecting a fee for the service as provided must comply with the
conditions as set out above.

2



Guideline G-008: Business Practices

72
Unit Billing

Unit billing refers to charging and invoicing a patient for each component of the service
performed at a single visit, as opposed to charging and invoicing the patient for the whole visit
(i.e. all components of a visit billed as one item). A member engaging in unit billing shall:

comply with CCO regulations, standards of practice, policies and guidelines relating to
business and billing practices; and

ensure that the unit billing is fair and reasonable and be aware that charging a fee

excessive to the service performed may constitute professional misconduct;

Billing Arrangements

A billing/financial affangement, which includes a block fee or any other payment plan
(billing/financial arrangement), is any fee arrangement where the patient is charged for multiple
services and/or treatments, including the pre-payment of fees, at any time other than when the

services and/or treatments are provided.

A member offering a billing/financial anangement must comply with the requirements of
Regulation R-008 : Professional Misconduct:

i. the patient is given the option of paying for each service as it is provided,
ii a unit cost per service is specified,
iii. the member agrees to refund to the patient the unspent portion of the block fee, calculated

by reference to the number of services provided multiplied by the unit cost per service.

Any billing lfinancial affangement must be directly representative of and connected to the

treatment/care plan agreed upon by the member and patient. This includes considerations of:
r the patient's complaint, symptoms and/or reasons for visiting a chiropractor;
r the patient's diagnosis or clinical impression;
r the informed consent process;

o the nature of the treatment plan;
r the patient's objectives and goals for treatment;
o the type of care plan (e.g. acute, preventative, wellness, etc'); and

r the patient's comfort level in agreement to a billing/financial arrangement.

Periodic reassessments are a mandatory part of any care/plan of care and are based on the same

clinical judgement components used in all phases of patient care. Additionally, periodic

reassessments are valuable opportunities to revisit informed consent with the patient. The timing
and reason for each comparative assessment depends on:

o patient progTess;

o expectations ofprogress;
r presentation ofnew conditions; and
. requests from third-party payors such as WSIB, etc.

a

o

3



Guideline G-008: Business Practices

a

a

73
Any billing/financial arrangement must include regular re-assessments, as described in Guideline
G-013: Chiropractic Assessments, which must be conducted when clinically necessary and, in
any event no later than each 24th visit. At every comparative re-assessment, a member must
review:

r the patient's progress as it relates to the plan of care recommendation;
r the patient progress to date;
r the patient's objectives and goals at this point compared to the initial presentation;
r the appropriate recommendation for continued care, referral or discharge; and
o discussion /review and documentation of any billing/financial arrangements for payment

of carc / tr e atment/s ervic e s.

In offering a billing/financial arrangement, a member must:

consider the appropriateness of offering a billing/financial alrangement which reflects:
the plan of care, the objectives and planned outcomes of care, patient goals and requests,
patient comfort, and the member's ability to provide a prognosis of the length of time
required to reach the stated outcomes;

discuss with the patient the appropriateness of a billing/financial arangement as it relates
to a plan of care, prior to the offering of a billing/financial affangement, including but not
limited to:

o informed consent to care, as described in Standard of Practice S-013: Consent
o the nature of the treatment plan,
o the health care goals and objectives for the patient,
o the patient's comfort in agreement to a billing/financial arrangement,
o the value and outcomes of the billing/financial anangement, and
o any billing or reimbursement from insurance companies or third-party payors that

would be affected by a billinglfrnancial arrangement;

a

a

a

make all reasonable efforts to ensure the patient is comfortable with and
understands all aspects of the billing/financial arrangement, including the right of
the patient to pay for each services as it is provided and the right to opt out ofthe
billing/financial arrangement at any time and receive a refund for the unspent
portion of the billing arrangement, calculated by reference to the number of services
provided multiplied by the unit cost per service.

not subject a patient to any undue pressure or duress to agree to a billing/financial
arrangement, or opt out of a billing/financial arrangement;

offer the option to pay for each service, which must be clearly communicated to the
patient and not affect a patient's ability to access chiropractic care. A member must never
deny a patient chiropractic care if a patient does not agree to billing/financial
arrangement;

4



Guideline G-008: Business Practices

ensure there are protections for the patient to receive a refund for any unused portion of
the billing/financial affangement in case of bankruptcy, death, dissolution of practice and

other incidences which may intemrpt a course of care;

respect a patient request to pay for each service as it is provided;

if a discount is offered as part of the billing/financial arrangement, it must be clear,

agreed upon by the member and patient and applied contemporaneously with the

agreement of the billing/financial arrangement - i.e. at the beginning of the treatment
plan;

notify the patient ifany additional services or products are not covered under the

billing/fi nan cial arrangement; and

provide the patient with monthly written updates upon request from the patient, which
includes how much of the billing/financial arrangement the patient has used, and the fees

that the patient has paid.

When charging a billing/financial affangement, the member must have a written agreement

signed by the member and the patient. The written agreement must include:

details the billing/financial arrangement;a

a includes a link to the CCO website www.cco.on.ca;

includes the following provisions, that the member has:

74

a

a

a

a

a

o given the patient the option to pay for each service on a "pay per visit" basis;

o disclosed to the patient the regular unit cost per service and the unit cost per

service established by the billing/financial anangement if the fees differ; and

o fully informed the patient of hisArer right to opt out of a billingifinancial
alrangement at any time during care, and the patient's right to a refund of any

unspent portion of the billing/financial arrangement, calculated by reference to the

number of services provided multiplied by the billing/financial arrangement unit
cost per service.

A member must provide a patient with:
o a copy of the signed, written agreement relating to a billing/financial arrangement; and

. an itemized account of the billing/financial arrangement upon request by the patient.

A member shall not subject the patient to any undue pressure andior duress when offering a

billing/financial arrangement.

5



Guideline G-008: Business Practices

Repayment of Unused Billing Arrangement

A patient may choose to opt out of a billing/financial arrangement at any time during
care, even if an agreement has been previously signed.

A member shall not subject the patient to any undue pressure andlor duress when the
patient chooses to opt out of a billing/financial arrangement.

A member must fully refund to the patient any unused portion of the billing/financial
arrangement calculated by multiplying the number of services provided by the
established unit cost per service of the billing/financial arrangement within 30 days of
the patient request.

a A member must ensure they have the resources to provide the patient with a refund for
any unused portion of a billing/financial affangement, upon request of the patient, within
30 days of the patient request. Any fees collected by the member through a
billing/financial arrangement for future care is in a sense held in trust by the member,
until the care is provided.

a If a patient opts out of the billing/financial arrangement, a member may not charge a
patient any additional fees for any treatments or services that were discounted or
complimentary as part of the billing/financial arrangement. A refund must reference the
unit cost per service, which may be complimentary or discounted, of the billing/financial
arrangement

75

a

a

a

5



76Guideline G-008: Business Practices

Example of Calculation of Refund Billing/Financial Arrangement (which include
additional services)

Guideline G-008: Business Practices provides the following example for a patient who wants to
opt out of a billing/financial arrangement and how to provide a refund to a patient who opts out.

Service Fee for Service Billinq Arranqement

Chiropractic
Treatment

20 treatments at $50 per
treatment: $1000

20 treatments at $45 per
treatment: $900

2 Re-evaluations 2 re-evaluations at $75 per re-
evaluation: $150

2rc-evaluations at $0 per re-
evaluation: $0

Cervical Traction $1s0 $0

Radiographs $100 $0

Total Cost $1400 $900

In this example, a patient under the billing/financial arrangement pays $900 up front, and opts

out of the billing/financial arrangement plan after receiving 10 chiropractic treatments, 2 re-

evaluations, cervical traction and radiographs.

Total amount of billing/financial affangement ($900)

Services Received:
. Billing/financial arrangement unit cost per service ($4S) x number of services received

(ro): $4s0
o 2 Re-evaluations, cervical traction and radiographs: $0

Total Refund: $900 (total amount of billing/financial arrangement) - $450 (spent portion of
billing/financial arrangement): $450 (unused portion of billing/financial arrangement)

Billing Third-Party Payors

A member may not bill any third-party payor in excess of his/her regular fee billed to an

uninsured patient for similar services.

7



77Guideline G-008: Business Practices

The practice of having one fee for a patient and a different fee for a third-pafty payor, or various
fees for different third-party payors (e.g., dependent upon the amount of coverage), is not
permitted. There is an exemption to this reshiction when a fee has been negotiated with a third-
party payor such as the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB), the Financial Services
Commission of Ontario (FSCO) or a similar organization.

A member should have a discussion with a patient of the member's involvement with billing
third-party payors to ensure the patient is fully aware of their own responsibilities regarding
reimbursement from any third-party payor.

LeersunvE CoNTENT

Regulation R-008 : Professional Misconduct

1 . The following are acts of professional misconduct for the purposes of clause
5l(1)(c) of the Health Professions Procedural Code:

The Practice of the Profession and the Care of and Relationship with Patients

Contravening a standard of practice of the profession or failing to maintain the
standard of practice expected of members of the profession.

11. Breaching an agreement with a patient relating to professional services for the
patient or fees for such services

14. Providing a diagnostic or therapeutic service that is not necessary.

Business Practices

Submitting an account or charge for services the member knows is false or
misleading.

Failing to disclose to a patient the fee for a service before the servrce rs

provided, including a fee not payable by the patient.

Charging a block fee unless,

the patient is given the option of paying for each service as it is
provided,

a unit cost per service is specified,

the member agrees to refund to the patient the unspent portion of the block
fee, calculated by reference to the number of services provided multiplied
by the unit cost per service.

1

23.

24.

25.

1.

l1

ii

8



Guideline G-008: Business Practices

26. Failing to itemize an account for professional services,

if requested to do so by the patient or person or agency who is to pay, in
whole or in part, for the services, or

11. ifthe account includes a fee for a product or device or a service other than
a treatment.

27 Selling any debt owed to the member for professional services. This does not
include the use ofcredit cards to pay for professional services.

Miscellaneous Matters

78

28

29

33

Contravening the Act, the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 or the
regulations under either of those Acts.

Contravening a federal, provincial or territorial law, a municipal by-law or a by-
law or rule of a hospital within the meaning of the Public Hospitals Act, if the
contravention is relevant to the member's suitability to practise.

Engaging in conduct or performing an act that, having regard to all the
circumstances, would reasonably be regarded by members as disgraceful,
dishonourable, or unprofessional.

9



79

@
GollecE oF GHrnopRAcroRS oF Orurnnlo

MeUonRNDUM

To: Stakeholders including Members

From: Dr. Paul Groulx, Chair, Quality Assurance Committee (until August
14,2020)
Ms Robyn Gravelle, Chair, Quality Assurance Committee (effective
August 14,2020)

Date: August 2020

Draft Proposed Standard of Practice and Guideline on Health Care
Claims in Advertising, Website and Social Media - For Circulation
and Feedback

CCO has approved the circulation to members and stakeholders for feedback a draft proposed

Standard of Practice and Guideline on Health Care Claims in Advertising, Websites and Social
Media.

The objectives of these draft proposed documents are:

To idenffi diseases, disorders and conditions that a member may not diagnose within
the chiropractic scope of practice and therefore may not claim to diagnose, prevent or
treat with chiropractic care in members' advertising, websites or social media.

Re

a

The chiropractic scope of practice is described in the Chiropractic Act, 1991, as follows:

The practice of chiropractic is the assessment of conditions related to the spine,

nervous system and joints and the diagnosis, prevention and treatment, primarily
by adjustment, of,
(a) dysfunctions or disorders arising from the structures or functions of the

spine and the effects of those dysfunctions or disorders on the neryous
system;and

(b) dysfunctions or disorders arising from the structures or functions of the
joints.

Any claims made by a member as to the effectiveness of chiropractic care must be

consistent with the chiropractic scope of practice and not claim to treat, relieve, prevent

or cure diseases or disorders and conditions that have been diagnosed outside ofthe
chiropractic scope of practice.



Memorandum, dated August 2020 from
Dr. Paul Groulx, Chair, Quality Assurance Committee (until August 14,2020)
Ms Robyn Gravelle, Chair, Quality Assurance Committee (effective August 14,2020)
to Members and Stakeholders

To outline CCO's expectations that health care cluims related to the benelits of
chiropractic care in members' advertising, websites and social media ure:

o within the chiropractic scope of practice,
o accurate, factual, verijiable and objective,
o supported by generally acceptable evidence; and
o otherwise compliant with CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines,

The public has a right to access information in a member's advertising, website and
social media that is consistent with the chiropractic scope of practice, CCO standards of
practice, policies and guidelines, accurate, factual, verifiable and objective and supported
by generally accepted evidence. The draft proposed standard of practice outlines CCO's
expectations in theses areas with respect to health care claims in members' advertising,
websites and social media.

To establish CCO procedures for enforcing CCO standards of practice relsted to health
csre cluims in members' advertising, websites and social media.

80

a

a

a

The draft proposed guideline is proposing to establish proactive reviews of members'
online websites and social media to help ensure compliance with the standard of practice

To attempt to hsrmonize to the extent possible standards of practice, policies and
gaidelines with respect to heulth cure cluims in advertising, websites and social media.

Several chiropractic regulators across Canada, including British Columbia, Alberta,
Saskatchewan and Nova Scotia have enacted similar standards and mechanisms to
proactively ensure that health care claims on members' advertising, websites and social
media are consistent with the chiropractic scope of practice and based on acceptable
evidence. CCO thanks these regulators from across Canada for sharing information and
best practices. Although the regulation of health care is under provincial legislation
which differs somewhat across the country, CCO has an interest in ensuring that the
public across the country have access to information in members' advertising that is
consistent, ethical, accurate, factual, objective and based on acceptable evidence.

Your Feedback is lmportant!

Please review the proposed amendments to these documents and provide us with your feedback.

Please return your feedback online by October 30,2020 at the following link:

http : //survey. constantcontact. com/survey/aO7eh9rj cixke8mrgux/start

2



Memorandum, dated August 2020 from
Dr. Paul Groulx, Chair, Quality Assurance Committee (until August 14,2020)
Ms Robyn Gravelle, Chair, Quality Assurance Committee (effective August 14,2O2O)
to Members and Stakeholders

If you have additional feedback that exceeds the space in the online feedback form, please send

this to:

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Fax: (416) 925-9610
Email: cco.info@cco.on.ca

Please note, identiffing information of specific individuals providing feedback will not be made

public; however, the summary of feedback and comments received will be made public, as part

of the public Council package.

The proposed amendments are also posted on CCO's website - www.cco.on.ca - in the "News &
Updates" section. Once CCO compiles the feedback, the Quality Assurance Committee will
review all feedback and make final recommendations to Council. The final version, if approved

by Council, will be posted to the CCO website.

Thank you for your feedback and your involvement in self-regulation.

81

3



82

Dnnrr Heerrn Gnne Glelus ttt
AovennsrNc, WeeslrEs AND Socnl Meon @D

o

a

Draft Standard of Practice S-???
Quality Assurance Committee
Draft Standard of Practice Approved for Distribution and Feedback: August 12,
2020

Note to Readers: In the eyent of any inconsistency between this document and the legislation that
affects chiropractic practice, the legislation governs.

lnrenr AND OBJEcnvEs

To identifu diseases, disorders and conditions that a member may not diagnose within
the chiropractic scope of practice and therefore may not claim to diagnose, prevent or
treat with chiropractic care in members' advertising, websites or social medial.

To outline CCO's expectations that health care claims related to the benefits of
chiropractic care in members' advertising, websites and social media are:

o within the chiropractic scope of practice,
o accurate, factual, verifiable and objective,
o supported by generally acceptable evidence; and

o otherwise compliant with CCO standards of practice, policies and guidelines

To create cohesiveness between Standard of Practice S-001: Chiropractic Scope of
Practice and Standard of Practice S-016: Advertising.

DescRrpnoN oF STANDARD

Ifeahh Care Claims in Advertising, Websites and Social Media

A member must give consideration to the following factors when making health care

claims as to the benefit of chiropractic care in advertising, websites and social media:
o Does the claim fall within the chiropractic scope of practice?
r Is the claim based on accurate, factual, verifiable, and objective information?
o Is the claim supported by generally acceptable evidence?
o Is the claim otherwise complaint with CCO standards of practice, policies and

guidelines?

I Any electronic platform accessible by the public.

a

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Draft Standard of Practice: Health Care Claims in Advertising, Websites and Social Media
Version Date: August 12,2Q2Q

A member is authorized to make and/or communicate a diagnosis or clinical impressron
within the chiropractic scope of practice, as described in the Chiropractic Act, 1991, as

follows:

The practice of chiropractic is the assessment of conditions related to the spine,
nervous system and joints and the diagnosis, prevention and treatment, primarily
by adjustment, of,
(a) dysfunctions or disorders arising from the structures or functions of the

spine and the effects of those dysfunctions or disorders on the nervous
system;and

(b) dysfunctions or disorders arising from the structures or functions of the
joints.

A member may not make and/or communicate a diagnosis that is outside of the
chiropractic scope ofpractice or claim to diagnose, prevent or treat diseases, disorders or
conditions that have been diagnosed and are outside of the chiropractic scope of practice.
As such, a member may not claim in their advertising, websites or social media,
including in patient testimonials, that chiropractic can be used to diagnosis, prevent or
treat diseases, disorders or conditions, such as:

. Allergies
o Alzheimer's disease and/or dementia
o Asperger's syndrome
o Asthma
o Attention Deficit Disorder (ADD)
o Attention Deficit Hyperactivity (ADHD)
o Autism or autism-spectrum related disorders including Asperger syndrome
o Cancer
. Cerebral Palsy
o Cognitive impairment
o Developmental and speech disorders
r Diabetes
o Down Syndrome
. Family Planning
. Fertility
o Fetal alcohol syndrome
. Flu
o Immunity, including information aboutvaccination/immunization
o Infantile Colic
r Infections
. Infertility
. MultipleSclerosis/MS

2

83

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Draft Standard of Practice: Health Care Claims in Advertising, Websites and Social Media
Version Date: August 12,2020

3

84
o Nocturnal Enuresis (bedwetting)
r Otitis Media (ear infection)
o Parkinson's Disease
r Tourette's syndrome

The above list of diseases, disorders or conditions is not exhaustive, final or conclustve.
Absent acceptable evidence, members may not make claims in advertising about the

effectiveness of chiropractic care in diagnosis, prevention and treatment of a disorder,

disease or condition simply because it is not included in this list.

CCO will review this list on a periodic basis with consideration to how emerging research

and evidence will affect this standard of practice.

Acceptable Evidence

When assessing whether there is acceptable evidence for making health care claims in
advertising, websites and social media and communication to patients and members of
the public, a member must consider the following:

o Is the evidence relied on objective and based on accepted principles ofgood
research? Is the evidence from a reputable source, for example, a properly peer-

reviewed journal?
o Do the studies used provide clear evidence for the therapeutic claims made or are

they one of a number of possible explanations for treatment outcomes?
e Have the results of the study been replicated? Results consistent across multiple

studies, replicated on independent populations, are more likely to be sound.

o Has the evidence been contradicted by more objective, higher quality studies?

(For example, evidence from a single study would not be acceptable evidence if it
is contradicted by a systematic review).

o Statements and claims in marketingthat are contrary to a higher-level evidence

are not acceptable. What is the level of evidence?

The following types of studies may not be considered sufficient acceptable evidence for
advertising claims:

o Studies involving no appropriate subjects;
o Before and after studies with little or no control or reference group (e.g.., case

studies);
o Self-assessmentstudies;
r Anecdotal evidence based on observation in practice; and

r Outcome studies or audits, unless bias or other factors that may influence the

results are carefully conholled.

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



Draft Standard of Practice: Health Care Claims in Advertising, Websites and Social Media
Version Date: Auqust 12,2020

4

85

2

LeersllrvE CoNTExr

Regulation 8 5 2/9 3 : Professional Misconduct

The following are acts of professional misconduct for the purposes of clause 5 1 . I (c) of
the Health Professions Procedural Code:

Contravening a standard of practice of the profession or failing to maintain the
standard of practice expected of members of the profession.

14. Providing a diagnostic or therapeutic service that is not necessary

JJ. Engaging in conduct or performinganact that, having regard to all the
circumstances, would reasonably be regarded by members as disgraceful,
dishonourable or unprofessional.

This standard of practice should be read in conjunction with:
o Standard of Practice 5-001: Chiropractic Scope of Practice
o Standard of Practice S-016: Advertising
. Guideline G-012: Use of Social Media
e Guideline G-016: Advertising
o Guideline G-???: Health Care Claims in Advertising, Websites and Social Media

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario



86
Dnerr Hennn Cnne Glnlms lru AoveRTlslNG, Weeslres
AND Socnl Meon @D

Draft Guideline G-???
Quality Assu rance Committee
Draft Guideline Approved for Distribution and Feedback: Auqust 12.2020

Note to Readers: In the event of any inconsistency between this document and the legislation that affects

chiropractic practice, the legislation governs.

lrurenr lNo Oe.recrvEs

To establish CCO procedures for enforcing CCO standards of practice related to health care

claims in members' advertising, websites and social media. This guideline should be read in
conjunction with Standard of Practice S-???: Health Care Claims in Advertising, Websites and

Social Media.

DescRrpnoN oF GUTDELTNE

CCO will be conducting thorough reviews of members' online websites, social media sites and

marketing material on an ongoing basis. The focus of these reviews will be to ensure members

are in compliance with established CCO standards, polices and guidelines, and specifically
Standard of Practice S-???: Health Claims in Advertising, Websites and Social Media.

Members are required to take regular steps to confirm all their advertising, websites and social

media are in compliance with CCO standards of practice. Below are some methods and online
resources to assist in that process (list is not exhaustive):

o Carefully review the content of websites, social media posts and other online advertising
material;

. Search online material using the following tools:
o Google search your website using the "site" function
o Search Facebook pages by term using "choose a source"
o Search Twitter pages with filters for tweets:

. An in-depth review of websites, social media posts and other online advertising material
during the peer and practice process;

It is recommended that members contact their IT providers for specific assistance and

explanations needed to ensure compliance.



87
Draft Guideline: Health Care Claims in Advertising, Websites and Social Media
Version Date: Auqust 12,2020

2

If, during the process of the CCO review, a member is found to be non-compliant with Standard
of Practice S-???: Health Care Claims in Advertising Websites and Social Media, CCO will take
one or more the following actions:

. Communication from CCO to the members who are found to be non-compliant with the
standard of practice directing them to comply with the standard of practice;

. Referral of the matter to the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee for further
review; or

. Other action as necessary, consistent with the Regulated Health Professions Act, I991 ,

with consideration to the breach of the standard of practice and the risk to the public
interest.

BRcrcnouND MATERTALI

Documents and literature reviewed included the following

Why'Evidence Informed' Healthcare?
The Levels of Evidence and their lole in Evidence-Based Medicine
Chiropractic Board of Australia - Statement on advertising
Best Practices for Chiropractic Care of Children: A Consensus Update
Chiropractic Care for Nomnusculoskeletal Conditions: A Systernatic Review with
Implications for Whole Systems Research
Primarv prevention in chiropractic gractice: a systematic review
Effectiveness of manual therapies: the UK evidence report

of treatment on of ear
review with a pedagogic approach
Chiropractic and children: Is more research enough?
Chiropractic at the crossroads or are we iust going around in circles?
Appeal to fear in health care: appropriate or inappropriate?

LeersunvE CoNTExr

Regulation 8 5 2/9 3 : Professionul Misconduct

The following are acts of professional misconduct for the purposes of clause 51.1(c) of the
Health Professions Procedural Code:

Contravening a standard of practice of the profession or failing to maintain the standard
of practice expected of members of the profession.

14. Providing a diagnostic or therapeutic service that is not necessary

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

2

I Adopted from the College of Chiropractors of British Columbia.



88
Draft Guideline: Health Care Claims in Advertising, Websites and Social Media
Version Date: 12,2020

JJ Engaging in conduct or perfonning an act that, having regard to all the circumstances,
would reasonably be regarded by members as disgraceful, dishonourable or
unprofessional.

This standard of practice should be read in conjunction with:
o Standard of Practice S-001: Chiropractic Scope of Practice
r Standard of Practice 5-016: Advertising
o Standard of Practice S-???: Health Care Claims in Advertising, Websites and Social

Media
. Guideline G-012: Use of Social Media
o Guideline G-016: Advertising

3



9t2t2020 Survey : Questions

Quality Assurance Committee: Feedback re: Distribution - August 2020

tNRequired Question(s) 89
*( t. Rre you a member of CCO?

O Yes

ONo

t*2. n you are not a member of CCO, what type of stakeholder are you?

Q Member of the Public

Q Chiropractic Organization

O Not Applicable (Member of CCO)

O otrer

* g. tf you are a member of CCO, please enter your registration number. Please note, this information will not be
made public. lf you are not a member of CCO, please enter N/A.

50 characters left.

ilg 4. Please enter your postal code of practice. lf you are not in practice or not a member of CCO, please enter
your postal code of residence. Please note, this information will not be made public.

50 characters left.

* S. f you are a member of CCO, how long have you been in practice?

C Less than 5 years

Q 6-10years

Q '11-20 years

Q More than 20 years

Q Not applicable

# O. tf you are a member of CCO, what is the location of your primary practice or residence?

Q Ontario

Q Outside of Ontario, in Canada

Q Outside of Canada

Q Not Applicable

survey.constantcontact.com/survey/a0Teh9rjcixkeSmrgux/_tmp/questions 1t4



9t2t2020 Survey : Questions

7. I agree/disagree with the draft proposed Standard of Practice S-???: Health Care Claims in Advertising,
Websites and Social Media

Q Strongly Agree

Q Agree

Q Disagree

Q Strongly Disagree

8. The following amendments would better protect the public interest:

90

I
1000 characters left.

9. I agree/disagree with the draft proposed Guideline G-???: Health Care Claims in Advertising, Websites and
SocialMedia

1) Strongly Agree

O Agree

C Disagree

Q Strongly Disagree

10. The following amendments would better protect the public interest:

survey.constantcontact.com/survey/a0Teh9rjcixke8mrgux/-tmp/questions 2t4



9t2t2020 Survey : Questions

91

1000 characters left.

11. Further Comments:

1000 characters left.

lf you have additional feedback, please send it to:

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
59 Hayden Street, Suite 800
Toronto, ON M4Y 0E7
Fax: (416) 925-9610
Email: cco.info@cco.on.ca

Allfeedback will be reviewed by the Quality Assurance Committee and CCO Council. Please note, identifying
information of specific individuals providing feedback will not be made public; however, the summary of feedback
and comments received will be made public, as part of the public Council package.

survey.constantcontact.com/survey/a0Teh9rjcixkeSmrgux[mp/questions 314



912t2020 Survey : Questions

Finish

92

survey.constantcontact.com/su rvey/a0Teh9rjcixkeSmrgux/_tmp/questions 4t4



PPA Pandemic Protocol Compliance Report V.28JUL^^

|TEM 1.5.2

Peen AssessoR PRorocol FoR 93
CONDUCTING PECN AruO PRECNCE ASSESSMENTS DUNIruC

rHE COVID-19 PanoEMlc
Please refer to the most up to date CCO communications related to conducting

chiropractic practice during the COVID-|9 pandemic (posted at www.cco.on.cd for
detailed outlines of cols and tions

1

INITIAL S C RE E NING PROC E D URE S :

Active screening completed by the assessor prior to conducting the in-person assessment

o Self-assessment completed and results provided to clinic
o Completes the screening tool used on site at the clinic being assessed

Passive screening protocols have been recognized by the assessor

Assessor has entered information into the contact tracing register maintained by the member

CONDACTING IN PERSON ASSESSMENTS:

Assessor maintains physical distancing measures when working indoors

Where physical distancing (min. 2 metres) cannot be maintained, assessor and member are wearing a

surgical/procedural face mask or assessor works behind an appropriate barrier (e.g. plexiglass barrier or in a

separate room)

Assessors are familiar with, have supplies for and implement appropriate PPE (Personal Protective

Equipment) protocols

Assessor is familiar with appropriate and thorough hygiene protocols (e.g. use of gloves when handling
paperwork andlor hand washing and use of disinfecting gels)

C OND UCTING RE MO TE/VIRTUAL AS S E S SME NTS :

To determine if a remote/virtual assessment process is appropriateo please contact
Dr. J. Bruce Walton, for further instructions: bwalton@cco.on.ca

When conducting a remote/virtual assessment, it will be necessary:

o That both the assessor and the member have adequate technology to conduct a safe and

secure assessment;
o To obtain more paperwork (e.g. patient health records) from the member being assessed

prior to conducting the assessment;
o To devise a method to provide the member a copy of their PPA report, as well as obtain

their signature
o That there may be other considerations that arise on a case-by-case basis

MONITORING SYMPTOMS OF COVID-I9

Assessor is familiar with appropriate guidelines for monitoring for symptoms

Assessor is familiar with appropriate steps to be taken when exhibiting signs or symptoms of COVID-l9

Assessor is familiar with the nearest COVID-19 testing facility

Assessor is familiar with appropriate process for reporting suspected cases of reportable diseases

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario
V.28JUL2O



PPA Pandemic Protocol Compliance Report V.21JUL20

Peen AssessMENT PRruoervnc PRorocol Gowlpt-lRNcE REpoRT 94
Name:

Registration No

Assessor:

Please refer to the most up to date CCO communications related to conducting
chiropractic practice during the COVlD"l9 pandemic (posted atwww.cco.on.cd for

detailed outlines of protocols and expectations.

At the time of the assessment, the member was found to be
Satisfactory qlVeeds Improvemenf in the following areas:

Satisfactory Needs lmprovement

I N ITIAL SCREE V''VG PROCEDURES:

Active screening protocols in place (e.9. pre-visit
questionnaire)

tr

Passive screening protocols in place (e.9. office signage) ! n
Member maintains contact tracing register that is up to date ! !
CO N D U CTI NG'A'.PERS O N AP POI NTM ENTS :

Member understands and complies with physicaldistancing
measures when working indoors

Where physical distancing (min. 2 metres) cannot be
maintained, member is wearing a surgical/procedural face
mask

u

Where physical distancing (min. 2 metres) cannot be
maintained, member provides face covering for patients
who do not present with one

!

Where physical distancing (min. 2 metres) cannot be
maintained, member has provided appropriate barrier (e.9.
plexiglass barrier)

Members are familiar with, have supplies for and implement
appropriate PPE (Personal Protective Equipment) protocols

Member provides appropriate safety measures, supplies
and training for all staff

Member has adequate supplies for and is familiar with
appropriate and thorough hygiene protocols (e.9.
handwashing)

Member has adequate supplies for and is familiar with
appropriate and thorough office protocols for cleaning and
disinfecting

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario
v.21JUL20



95
PPA Pandemic Protocol Com v.21JUL20

Based on this portion of the peer and practice assessment, the member should make
improvements in the following areas:

CorunRurRTroN oF Reuew

! Assessor and member discussed the information contained in this report.

E Member assessed will implement the changes recommended by the assessor.

Assessor's Signature

2

MONITORING SYMPTOMS OF MEMBERS AND STAFF

Member is familiar with appropriate guidelines for
monitoring members and office staff for symptoms

Member is familiar with appropriate steps to be taken when
encountering patient or staff who may be exhibiting signs or
symptoms of COVID-19

Member is familiar with the nearest COVID-19 testing
facility

n

Member is familiar with appropriate process for reporting
suspected cases of reportable diseases

Member's Signature

Date

@ College of Chiropractors of Ontario
V.21JUL2O



ITEM 4.1

I

Generated Internally

177

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Executive Committee Report to Council (Virtual)
September 11,2020

Members: Dr. Dennis MizeI, President
Mr. Rob MacKay, Vice-President
Ms Robyn Gravelle, Treasurer
Dr. Sarah Green
Dr. Paul Groulx
Mr. John Papadakis
Dr. Janit Porter

Staff Support: Mr. Joel Friedman, Director, Policy and Research

Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

I lntroduction

Let me start my report by reminding all Council members that Ontario

continues to be under an Emergency Order of government until at least

September 22,2020. We are all trying our best to prioritize CCO core

functions while maintaining the health and safety of everyone, including all

staff who continue to work remotely to the extent possible. I very much

appreciate everyone's efforts during a very difficult time, and I appreciate

your ongoing support as we navigate through uncharted waters'

At this time, I expect that Council will not be properly constituted at the

September 11,2020 meeting, and accordingly we will proceed with decisions

subject to ratification at a subsequent meeting when Council is properly

constituted. The Executive Committee ("Committee") continues to exercise

the powers of Council between meetings except for approval of the by-laws or

regulations, consistent with the requirements of the Regulated Health

Professions Act, 1991.

a

a

Thank you to all Council members who made themselves available to approve

the various by-law amendments on September 4,2020 while Council was still
properly constituted. Fortunately, CCO can proceed with updated by-laws

which are consistent with best practices and the comprehensive review
facilitated by Mr. Richard Steinecke.

a



Executive Committee Report to Council (Virtual) - September 71,2020

As Council members are aware, we moved the September Council meeting
ftom Saturday, September 12,2020to Friday, September 11,2020 Lo

accommodate some Council members, and in particular, some of those who
have children returning to school in September. Please also note that
traditionally CCO has strategic planning or a topic specific meeting outside of
Toronto annually, but the strategic planning session has been adjoumed at this
time until likely 2020 Qnrticularly since strategic planning is an exercise
which seems to work best in person). The situation is being monitored on an
ongoing basis. In the interim, please ensure you review the Executive and
Council meeting dates which have been scheduled to December 2021 and are
included in the Council agenda.

Since the last meeting of Council, the Executive Committee ("Committee")
has met virtually on August 12,2020. The draft, confidential minutes are
included in the Council information package, and are subject to review and
approval. This report highlights the Committee's efforts and actions over the
past several weeks.

178

a

a



Executive Committee Report to Council (Virtual) - September L'J.,2O2O

81

a

lll Ministry of Health (MOH)

There have been some significant changes at MOH. First, Mr. Thomas Custers

who addressed Council in April 2019 aboutthe Colleges Performance
Measurement Framework (CPMF) has moved to a new position with Princess

Margaret Hospital. On behalf of CCO, I wish him well, and thank him for his
work on the CPMF.

CCO, along with other regulators, has received information about the ongoing
CPMF initiative, which is included in the Council information package. The
Committee has not had time to review the information, but I anticipate
significant efforts will be made to ensure CCO takes the necessary steps to
comply and to demonstrate accountability to CCO's mandate to regulate
chiropractic in the public interest.

o

a

a

There has been some significant transition in terms of public members on
CCO. We have thanked Ms Posen, Ms Bourdeau, and Ms Allan for their
contributions. We have also welcomed our newest public members Mr. Gagan

Dunbar and Mr. Amandeep Singh. We look forward to welcoming another
public member in the near future so that Council is again properly constituted,
and we can ensure the important voice of the public is heard around the
Council table.

lV Communications/Strategic Planning

A major priority since the last report to Council, has been ongoing
communications to stakeholders, including members, providing updates on
CCO activities, and guidance on how to comply with and practise chiropractic
consistent with the various government orders and directives. Over the past 25

weeks, CCO has communicated in an unprecedented way, with short, timely
President's Messages. The feedback has been overwhelmingly positive, and I
appreciate the hard work being done by so many committees, which has

allowed me to highlight some of that work throughout the pandemic. The
message that received the most positive feedback by far in CCO's history was

the Vice President's message dated JuIy 7,2020, which highlighted the
important work of CCO's public members. I encourage all Council members
to review the feedback, and to forward any suggestions for future
communication ideas to Ms Willson and me as the new committees start their
terms.



Executive Committee Report to Council (Virtual)- September 11.,2020

The Committee has considered many appropriate topics for the next strategic
planning session when it is safe to meet in person. The in-person meetings
previously ssheduled at the White Oaks in Scptcmbcr 2020 havc been

cancelled. We don't know at this time when the hotels will be reopening to
accommodate corporate functions. Some of the topics being considered
include emergency preparedness plan and policy, what learnings do we have

arising from conducting business during a global pandemic, CCO Position
Statement/Guideline on Chiropractic and the Immune System (through the
public interest lens), Core Competencies for Council members/Evaluation,
and building on the various training sessions in June and July 2020, including
Effective Chairing 2.0.

82

a

a

o

I encourage all Council members who have ideas about strategic planning or

other training topics to forward them to Ms Willson and me on an ongoing
basis. Mrat may be mole appropriate at this time is for Council mcmbers to
forward any suggestions foi training sessions which would be done virtually
over the next several weeks.

V By-laws/Policy Review and Recommendations

As of the writing of this report, Council has approved the various by-law
amendments recommended by the Committee following a review by Mr.
Richard Steinecke and Mr. Joel Friedman of best practices.

In addition, and as indicated in the draft Executive Committee minutes for
August 12, 2020, the Committee approved:

a

o the appointment of Tator, Rose and Leong for the 2021 ftscal year;

o amendments to I-017: Procutement of Goods and/or Services (to be

consistent with the by-law amendments);
o amended Rules of Order;
o revised Terms of Reference for the Advertising Committee (to

relate to reviewing proposed advertisements but not standards and

policy review);
o revised Terms of Reference for the Executive Committee (to

assume responsibility for standards and policy review of
Advertising provisions).



Executive Committee Report to Council (Virtual) - September L1,2O2O

These documents are included in the Council information package and will be

subject to further review as part of every committee's responsibility to review
and recommend any amendments to relevant standards, policies and

guidelines.

83

a

a

a

Vl CCO Committees

I was very pleased to see the positive feedback from stakeholders including
members and students about the Registration Committee's recommended

Policy P-058: Provisional Certificates. Dr. Groulx, Chair, Registration
Committee, will provide a full report during the Registration Committee
Report.

It appears that the fall will continue to be a busy time for many committees,

considering the 12 outstanding referrals of allegations of professional

misconduct to the discipline committee, and the increasing number of
inquiries, complaints and reports to the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports

Committee. I also anticipate that the new committee chairs for Patient

Relations (Mr. Papadakis) and Quality Assurance (Ms Gravelle) will shortly
schedule committee meetings until April 2021for their new committees.

a

Vll Chiropractic/Health Related Stakeholders

CCO continues to communicate and interact with stakeholders during the
pandemic. Council members will note that:

o The FCC will be conducting a fall meeting virtually (and has

confirmed they will not be increasing dues at this time);
o Ms Willson has communicated directly with Ms Brereton about

CCO's Advertising and Social Media standards, and the circulation of
a draft health care claims standard which the QA Committee has

circulated and will be reviewing for future recommendation to

Council;
o I have written to the CMCC Chair directly on several matters and to

express concern about a CMCC faculty member inappropriately
contacting a CCO public member at her place of work;



Executive Committee Report to Council (Virtual) - September tL,2O2O

184

o Dean Wright of the CCPA has communicated to the CCPA's members
emphasizing the importance of complying with regulators' guidance
during the pandemic;

o 'l'he eCliH will be holding an information for all regulators on the
rescheduling of the CCEB examinations inNovember2020;

o There have been several legislative amendments reflected in the
legislative amendments sunmary prepared by Mr. Richard Steinecke
for the Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO).

vilt Conclusion

This has been an extraordinary time for everyone. I am looking forward to our
next strategic planning session which we can carefully evaluate our learnings
from conducting CCO business during a pandemic - what worked, what did we
learn, how can we do better. In the meantime, I again thank all of Council and
staff for pcrscvcring with mc as we continue to address all urgent matters on an
ongoing basis in a manner consistent with government orders and directives, and
in a way that ensures the safety and health of Council, staff, and the public we all
serve.

Respecttirlly submitted by,

Dr. Dennis Mizel,
President




















































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































	cover page.pdf
	Duties and Objects of Colleges
	17mission, vision, values and  objectives.pdf
	CCO Code of Conduct
	Rules of Order of the Council
	List of Commonly Used Acronyms at CCO
	20Sept11CounA(Virtual) - Public.pdf
	COUNCIL MEETING
	Friday, September 11, 2020 (1:00 p.m. – 4:30 p.m.)  0F
	Virtual Meeting using Zoom Platform
	(During COVID-19 Pandemic)
	AGENDA (Public) 1F  2F
	Attendees
	Council members
	Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel
	Mr. Joel Friedman, Director of Policy and Research
	Ms Andrea Szametz, Recording Secretary




